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...is about more than just strength in numbers. It’s about
the strength that comes with being part of an extensive
network forged by auto repairers, for auto repairers.
The strength to grow your small business supported by
Capricorn and Preferred Suppliers’ products and services.
Thanks to the Capricorn alliance, any small business
owner is ready for what happens next.

CAPRICORN’S
Purpose
As a trusted Member-owned organisation, our focus is to improve the lives of our
Members by supporting them in building stronger businesses resulting in the sustainable
future of the automotive industry.
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MEMBER REPATRIATION
Australasia’s largest automotive cooperative will be paying AUD 24.1 Million* to Members by way
of dividend payments and a special COVID-19 rebate. The record payment is AUD 3.5 Million more
than rebates and dividend payments returned to Members last financial year and a direct response
to the COVID-19 pandemic which caused significant disruption to the industry.
Capricorn has a long history of generating wealth for its Members via reward points, rebates and
dividend payments. We are proud that we can continue to provide this to Members.
*This return includes a 7% fully franked dividend (representing a gross dividend yield of 10%) based on an estimated 30 June
2020 Share Capital.
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CHAIRMAN’S

Letter

If there was ever a year that proved we are stronger
together, 2020 was it.

Then, coronavirus hit.
Like most other businesses across Australia and

In a difficult year for the automotive industry and

New Zealand, many workshops downed tools

the community at large, Members have shown

completely, closed the doors, and waited it out.

resilience and grit. In my first year as Capricorn

Those who could, remained open for essential

chairman, it has been awe-inspiring to see.

services.

We were tested, first, by the bushfires which

While our countries fared better than many others,

ravaged Australia last summer. More than 18

the economic fallout may still make the global

million hectares burned, nearly 6000 buildings

financial crisis look like a blip. But, as businesses

were destroyed, 34 people lost their lives, and the

were allowed to open again, our industry got back

costs — still being tallied — were counted in billions

to work, doing what we love. We’re back on the

of dollars. Yet the community, including Capricorn

tools, fixing cars, making customers happy, and

Members, came together — donating millions,

keeping the roads safe.

providing shelter, and showing incredible solidarity
and resolve. It was a very public demonstration of
the cooperative spirit upon which Capricorn was
founded.

The resilience of our industry and our Members is
clearly demonstrated in this report for the 2020
Financial Year, which I’m proud to present to you.
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The results contained here aren’t just Capricorn’s results;

Throughout a difficult year, the commitment of the Risk

they’re your results too. They represent the strength and

team to our Members has shown the benefits of a tailored,

tenacity of you and your business as well as the Australian

in-house protection product.

and New Zealand automotive industry as a whole.

In the last financial year, Capricorn Finance assisted

Member purchases from Preferred Suppliers reached

Members by providing $25.8 million in loans, allowing

$2.19 billion this financial year, up 7.15% on 2019’s results.

them to improve and expand their businesses and ensure

Capricorn’s overall profit after tax was $13.1 million .

their long-term sustainability.

These results show a determination on the part of Members

Finally, despite travel bans and lockdowns, Capricorn

to adapt their businesses in the face of unprecedented

Travel booked $3.9 million in member travel during

times — keeping doors open and wheels turning.

the year. While coronavirus caused a huge decrease in

We’re proud that in such a disruptive year, Capricorn still
returned as much value as possible to Members. Members
earned more than $32.4 million in Capricorn Rewards
Points, and a special COVID-19 trade rebate of AUD $13.4
million which was declared to Members for trade account
purchases throughout the year. This rebate was issued
as Capricorn Awarded Bonus Points on your July 2020

international travel, on the plus side, many of us have been
exploring holiday experiences closer to home.
While my first year as Chairman has certainly been
unusual, I’ve been impressed by the way the Capricorn
team has risen to the challenges. I’ve also been
impressed to see, firsthand and up close, how

statement.

Capricorn’s primary focus is always on you, the Member,

In calculating the value of our returns to Members,

support you. After all, we really are stronger together.

Capricorn considers both monetary and non-monetary
benefits. We call it “Member Value Return”, or MVR.

and whether we’ve done everything we possibly can to

I would like to extend my thanks to my fellow Board

In 2020 we returned $50.3 million in value to Members,

Directors for their support during such difficult times,

which equates to an MVR of 23%. That means for every

together with David Fraser and his Executive Leadership

dollar invested in Capricorn, you receive a 23% return.

Team for their leadership and strength, and the whole

During the year, $15.6 million was distributed to
shareholders by way of an ordinary dividend of 11 cents
per share. An additional $11.0 million dividend was

Capricorn team for their tireless work delivering as much
support as possible to our Members and Preferred
Suppliers.

declared on 30 June 2020 at 7 cents per share to be paid

I look forward to returning next year after a better year for

in August 2020, a really positive result for Members in a

Australia and New Zealand.

generally tough year and no doubt a welcome stimulus
for workshops badly affected by events. For me, this is a

Yours in Cooperation,

welcome reminder that we really are stronger together.
This sharing of profits will help strengthen the financial
health of the industry as a whole, while also strengthening
ties between Members and our Preferred Suppliers.
Perhaps not surprisingly, it has been a big year for
Capricorn’s Risk Services, too. When we introduced
Capricorn’s Risk Services , we wanted to provide Members
with greater support and protection, backed by a team that
really understood auto businesses. This year Capricorn
Risk Services wrote $72.9 million in gross protection on
behalf of Capricorn Mutual Limited.

Mark Cooper
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As Mark has mentioned, and you’re well aware, the
2020 Financial Year was a difficult one. But, to focus on
the positives for a moment, I am proud of the way both
Capricorn and our community rose to the challenges
we faced and adapted to them.
Adaptation is always a key theme in business. We must
adapt to market forces, technological advances, new
competition, legislative changes, and so on, or we
don’t survive. 2020 has shown us just how adaptable
we can be.
Members across Australia were directly or indirectly
affected by bushfires aptly described as “apocalyptic”.
25 Capricorn Risk Members experienced direct
impacts to their business. Now, thanks to support from
both their local communities and other Capricorn
Members, they have started the daunting task of
rebuilding their businesses.
By March we were all adapting to a “new normal” of
social distancing and living in lockdown, thrust upon
us by coronavirus.
In the midst of this disruption Capricorn delivered the
most significant Member returns in Capricorn history.
Declaring AUD 24.3 million to be paid to Members
through dividends and a special COVID-19 rebate.
We hosted our Government Assistance Directory,
Member Support Forum, Contactless Repairs
Resources and Reboot Your Business online seminar
series through our online community platform, The
Workshop. More than 14,000 Members accessed or
downloaded these resources, to help them overcome
the challenges of 2020.
For four months earlier this year we temporarily
implemented a number of initiatives providing options
and flexibility for Members experiencing financial
distress caused by the impact of coronavirus on their
business.
Mark mentioned Capricorn Risk Services and I think
it’s worth stating here that the hard work of our
Risk Account Managers and support staff has seen
Capricorn Mutual increase gross protections by
13.3% to $72.9 million (2019: $64.3 million). The Net
Profit after Tax has increased to $5.5 million (2019:
$2.7 million) due to double digit top line growth
combined with significantly better than expected
claims experience, despite one of the worst years on
record for catastrophe claims across the industry (the
above results for CML are not consolidated into these
Financial Statements).
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LETTER FROM THE

Group CEO

Despite coronavirus, new memberships continued to grow
in 2020, with 21,899 Member trading accounts at year end,
marking an increase of 990 Members on 2019. We also
welcomed a number of new Preferred Suppliers, broadening
the product range we have available to Members across
Australia and New Zealand.
It was also a year in which we took a snapshot of the industry,
through our first ever State of the Nation survey. Hopefully
you’ve had a chance to read the resulting report. It paints a
picture of an industry filled with people who absolutely love
what they do. But it also identified some real challenges being
faced by workshops both large and small. Some of those
challenges will have been exacerbated by the pandemic,
which hit after the survey was taken. It’ll be fascinating to
see what Members have to say when we send out this year’s
survey, and to see how you’ve all adapted to the new normal.
We look forward to sharing those findings with you, so all
Members can implement the best ideas.
I’m pleased to report that Capricorn Service Data is still
proving to be an important tool in the Capricorn Member
toolkit. This year, more than 9,000 Members used Capricorn
Service Data to access up to date vehicle information.

Finally, despite all the disruption 2020 brought with it,
I’m pleased to say we continued our work recognising
and rewarding our industry’s next generation — the up
and coming auto-repair apprentices who took part in our
Capricorn Rising Stars competition. This year we had more
than 250 nominations across Australia and New Zealand.
Huge congratulations to Gabrielle Clift of Highfields
Mechanical and Off Road, who was named Capricorn’s
Rising Star for 2020. Gabrielle won an enviable prize haul for
her efforts thanks to Capricorn Rising Stars sponsors Castrol,
Repco, Automate Training, The Workshop Whisperer and TaT.
After a year rich with uncertainty, it’s interesting to imagine
what the auto industry will look like at the end of Gabrielle’s
hopefully long and successful career. It’s a fair bet it’ll
look quite different to the industry of today, just as today’s
workshops look very different to those of 40 or 50 years ago.
One thing is for sure, adaptation will be the key to longevity
and success in our ever-evolving industry. And no matter
what the future holds, Capricorn will be right there alongside
you.
Yours in Cooperation,
David Fraser.
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CAPRICORN
Directors
MARK COOPER
VIC/TAS (Chairman)
GAICD, Grad. Cert. Comm
Mark became a member of Capricorn Society in 1995 and was first
elected to the board in October 2013. He became chairman of the board
in 2019. Mark is a member of Capricorn’s remuneration and nomination
committee and has previously been a member of the Capricorn audit and
risk committee. Mark is also a director of Capricorn Mutual Ltd.
Mark has been involved in the automotive industry for over 36 years and
currently owns and operates a number of mechanical services and repairs
businesses.
Mark has completed a marketing and financing independent business course, a Certificate IV in Small
Business Management and obtained a Graduate Certificate in Commercialisation from the University of
Tasmania. Mark is a director of six family owned companies and currently sits on the Executive Committee
of the TACC (Tasmanian Automotive Chamber of Commerce).

MARIO PIRONE

Vice Chairman
Independent Director
B. Bus, Grad. Dip. Bus, FCPA
Mario joined the Capricorn board in July 2014 as an independent director
and was appointed to the position of vice chairman of the board in 2019.
Mario is chairman of Capricorn’s audit and risk committee as well as the
Capricorn relationship committee.
Mario brings over 25 years’ experience as a senior executive and director
in large and complex organisations. He has worked in the general
insurance, funds management and financial services fields and is currently the CEO of the Guild Group which
is a national insurance and financial services business. Mario was formerly the CEO of CGU Insurance and a
senior group executive with Insurance Australia Group (1999-2008) and has held a number of non-executive
directorships over the past 10 years.

RUSSELL BECKER
NSW/ACT
FAICD
Russell was elected to the Capricorn board in 2005 after first becoming a
member in 1991. Russell served as chairman of the board from 2015 to 2019,
is a member of Capricorn’s remuneration and nomination committee and is
a director of Capricorn Mutual Ltd. During his time on the board, Russell has
also spent time on the audit and risk committee.
Russell has been involved in the automotive industry since 1979 specialising
in mechanical repairs. Russell is a RTA AUVIS, AIS and LPG inspector.
Russell is also involved in many committees and boards of charity and
sporting organisations.

PHIL SAXTON
New Zealand
GAICD
Phil joined the Capricorn board in 2015. He is a member of Capricorn’s
remuneration and nomination committee and also serves on the Capricorn
relationship committee. Phil has also spent time on Capricorn’s audit & risk
committee.
Phil has been involved in the automotive industry for over 28 years. Phil is the
owner and operator of two automotive workshops in the Wellington region and
has been a Capricorn Member for over 12 years. Phil is a Member of the New
Zealand MTA and past President of the MTA Wellington. Over the past 12 years
he has been involved in several voluntary community organisations and is the
current chairman of the Hutt Old Boys Rugby Football Club.

JULIE WADLEY
Western Australia
GAICD
Julie was Capricorn’s first ever female director, joining the board in 2014.
Julie also serves on the audit and risk committee. She has previously been a
member of the Capricorn remuneration and nomination committee and the
Capricorn relationship committee.
Julie has been involved in the automotive industry for over 48 years.
Julie served on the MTAWA board of management, including as vice
chairperson and has been a member of the MTAWA body repair committee.
Julie is also on the RACWA council and was previously on the RAC club
board. She is a foundation member of Rotary Club of Safety Bay and past president and secretary and a
member of the Institute of Automotive Mechanical Engineers.
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DIRECTORS
Cont...
DAVID KEMP
Queensland
GAICD
David was first elected to the board in October 2014 and is currently a
member of Capricorn’s audit and risk committee and Capricorn’s relationship
committee. David has previously been a member of the Capricorn
remuneration and nomination committee.
David has been involved in the automotive industry for over 40 years. David
has an automotive workshop that is an approved repairer for the RACQ and
provides assessments for both Suncorp and RACQ Insurance.
David is an approved examiner for Queensland Transport and a qualified automotive electrical technician as well
as a member of the Warwick Chamber of Commerce. David is the vice chairman of the Warwick Road Safety
Committee and is currently the president of the Warwick Motorcycle Club. David is also the past president of
Warwick Rotary Sunrise.

PETER STEWART
SA/NT
Dip. Auto, Dip.T, Adv. Dip. T, MMIAME, GAICD
Peter joined the Capricorn board in 2015. Peter is the chairman of
Capricorn’s remuneration and nomination committee and has previously
spent time on Capricorn’s audit & risk committee.
Peter has been involved in the automotive industry for over 23 years. He
sits on a number of automotive industry committees. Peter has been a
Capricorn Member since 1999, is currently an IAME Member, deputy chair
of the MTA (SA) automotive repair division committee and a member of
the RAA approved repairers committee.

DID YOU KNOW?

Capricorn Members elect their Board Directors.
Find out more about our Directors at
capricorn.coop/directors
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BRUCE RATHIE
Independent Director
B. Comm, LLB, MBA, FIML, FAICD, FGIA, Grad Dip CSP, SA Fin
Bruce was appointed to the Capricorn board in July 2008 as an
independent director. Bruce also served as vice chairman to the board
from 2015 to 2018. Bruce is a member of Capricorn’s audit and risk
committee and is chairman of the Capricorn Mutual board.
Bruce is currently a non-executive director of ASX200 listed PolyNovo
Limited , ASX listed Netlinkz Limited and unlisted Australian Meat
Processor Corporation Limited. He is also currently chairman of ASX
listed 4DMedical Limited. Prior to commencement of his professional
governance career in 2000, he had successful careers in private legal practice and then investment
banking.

DONNA VINCI
Independent Director
GAICD
Donna joined the Capricorn board in 2019 and is a member of Capricorn’s
audit and risk committee as well as the Capricorn relationship committee.
Donna previously held senior leadership positions at Bank of Queensland
as the chief digital and information officer, IAG where she was group
general manager, group digital and group CIO, and prior to that, Donna
was the chief operations and information officer of Westpac’s Institutional
Bank. Donna has also held many global executive management roles at
Citigroup , including regional CIO and global head of technology risk
management and held other senior management roles at Potter Warburg and was a director at Country
Natwest.
Outside of her corporate roles, Donna actively works with not-for-profit organisations in both formal and
informal capacities across healthcare, education and community services, to support her passion of paying
it forward and making a societal impact. Donna was also awarded Cisco’s Women in IT, 2019 CIO of the
Year Award.
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CAPRICORN’S
Executive Team
DAVID FRASER
Group Chief Executive Officer
MBA, GAICD, FAICD, FAIM, A FIN
Joined Capricorn 2006

BRADLEY GANNON
Chief Executive Officer Automotive
B.Comm, LLB (Hons), GradDipACG, GAICD (OM), FGIA, FCIS
Joined Capricorn 2008

JIM GLOSSAT
Chief Executive Officer Capricorn Risk
B.Legs, MBA, GAICD
Joined Capricorn 2014

JASON FROST
Group Chief Information Officer
B.Bus, G.Dip.Fin.Plan, GAICD, CA, PMP
Joined Capricorn 2008

WES SMITH
Group Chief Financial Officer
B.Comm, FCPA, GAICD, AICM
Joined Capricorn 2016

WILL BARGMANN
General Counsel & Company Secretary
BA (Hons); JD
Joined Capricorn 2019
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‘The results contained here aren’t just Capricorn’s results; they’re your results
too. They represent the strength and tenacity of you and your business as well as
the Australian and New Zealand automotive industry as a whole.’
- Mark Cooper, Chairman
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KEY FINANCIAL
Results

*The above key financial highlights have been audited as part of the Annual Report audit by Ernst & Young.
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Sustainability Overview
Capricorn is taking real and measurable action in meeting Capricorn’s environmental, governance and
social commitments (“Capricorn’s sustainability”). This sustainability report sets out the steps Capricorn is
taking to make its business, and the business of its Members, more sustainable. This report is more about the
proactive steps that Capricorn has taken in the environmental, social and governance areas. Discussions on
the risks that Capricorn faces in these areas that are material to Members are set out in the Capricorn short
from prospectus and not covered here.

Our commitment to sustainability
We are proud of achievements we have made in 2020 toward Capricorn’s sustainability commitments.
These acheivements included the board’s commitment to include sustainability explicitly in the annual
report, which underscores the importance the board places on this topic. Being Member owned means
that Capricorn places great emphasis on the work it does with our Members, and this report highlights our
approach and our achievements.
During the year the board and management also made governance
improvements. These included the adoption of a framework for dealing with
modern slavery risk and the approval of a comprehensive code of conduct,
with an increased focus on conduct risk and appropriate reporting.
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Sustainability Overview

Environmental Sustainability
Capricorn acknowledges that its business activities
do not create a large environmental footprint.
Nevertheless, to the extent the business can make a
difference to the environment both for itself and its
Members, it tries to do so.
During the year Capricorn continued its focus on
maintaining good recycling practices in the business. It
also attempts to streamline waste and packaging
disposal. Many employees have paper recycling bins at
their desks in addition to the numerous and clearly
marked recycling bins in the building. We have also had
dedicated employees volunteer to recycle batteries in
the Troode Street offices.
At the Troode Street office Capricorn continues to
benefit from its decision in 2016 to install solar panels
on the roof of the office. Each year the system produces
over 120,000 kWh of electricity and avoids over 84
tonnes of CO2 that would otherwise be emitted.
Capricorn monitors the performance of its solar panels
to ensure that the panels are generating as expected.
Capricorn has also during the year considered its
future fleet requirements for the large number of field
employees who use their Capricorn vehicles nearly
every day. As part of this tender fuel economy of the
fleet (and consequently the carbon emissions) was an
important factor.
Capricorn also continues to have an investment in
Pearl Global Limited. Pearl is an Australian company
applying unique, next-generation technology to
cleanly convert waste into valuable products. Pearl’s
technology represents a significant advancement on
other tyre recycling processes and is currently focused
on processing end of life rubber including waste tyres.

Social Sustainability
Social sustainability looks at a company’s business
relationships. During the year Capricorn undertook
several steps both for its own business and that
of its Members that underscores the company’s
commitment to social sustainability.
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Sustainability Overview

Our People
Sustainable diversity practices
A diverse workplace creates an environment of
inclusiveness, creativity and innovation. Capricorn’s
flexible working practices demonstrate our commitment
to this important part of workplace culture.
Capricorn recognises that providing employees with
flexibility in how they work is beneficial to employees,
managers, and Capricorn. As more and more employees
want flexible working arrangements, offering that
flexibility makes Capricorn a destination of choice,
allowing the business to attract and retain the best and
most diverse employees. Flexible working supports our
employees manage the challenges of juggling their
work/life balance in many ways. Employee performance
improves by providing people with the right mix of
working from home and working hours, generating
sustained discretionary effort. Working flexibly also
creates an environment where our leaders learn and
adapt to new, creative, and better ways of working
productively, resulting in longer term, higher quality
outcomes for the business.
At Capricorn, the underlying principles of flexible
working are that flexibility benefits both Capricorn and
its employees; that Capricorn commits to agile principles
to flexibility; and that employees working flexibly commit
to the same agile principles. Through these principles
Capricorn aims to maintain a productive, successful and
sustainable culture of flexible working.
Capricorn is also very conscious of the creation of a
gender pay gap, which can have negative effects on
the company culture. To this end the business has
conducted a comprehensive review of gender pay.
Pleasingly we determined that we had no systemic
issues.

Sustained safety in the workplace
Capricorn’s commitment to safe workplace practics
allows our employees to perform to the best of their
ability without risking their health and safety. In the
last year, no Capricorn employees have sustained any
major physical or mental injuries, despite having close to
one-third of all employees driving each day to visit
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Sustainability Overview
Members and Preferred Suppliers, and the challenges of

Capricorn’s

isolation while confined to our homes during COVID-19.

resulted in reaching an employer of choice for three years

Capricorn ran a safety campaign, called “SafetyCap”

•

•

employee

engagement

has

in a row, being:
•

4.46 in 2017

•

4.48 in 2018

Digital detox reducing time spent bent over looking at

•

4.46 in 2019

mobiles and ensuring adequate breaks are taken;

This commitment to employee engagement has been

Drive safe over the festive season focusing on reducing

sustained and ongoing, recognising that highly engaged,

speeding and driving while tired and highlighting the

motivated employees provide the best service to our

importance of not driving while under the influence of

Members and Preferred Suppliers and are best positioned

alcohol; and

to deliver our strategic objectives.

promoting the importance of and commitment to:
•

continued

Slip slop slap over the summer months.

financial year, being ‘lift like a legend’ focused on safe

Co-operatives and Mutuals Contributing
to the Communities

lifting in the workplace and other safe workplace practices;

The Australasian automotive aftermarket community is at

and ‘are you ok day’, promoting mental wellbeing.

the heart of Capricorn. It is not an added extra. Capricorn

Two campaign topics are currently planned for the next

Sustained health in the workplace

exists to fulfil the needs of our Members. Co-op's and
mutuals (CMEs) are structurally invested in their members’

All Perth employees completed mental health training

communities, not owned by distant shareholders. They

hosted by our employee assistance program partner,

know that a strong community will underpin the long-term

Acacia Connection. Once COVID-19 restrictions are

success of the co-operative and its members.

lifted across Australia and New Zealand, this training will

Co-ops subscribe to the seven International Co-Operatives

continue and be delivered to all staff.

Principles including “Concern for Community”. Under

During the year, 33 employees took advantage of the

this principle, “Cooperatives work for the sustainable

assistance program that Capricorn provides to employees,

development of thei communities through policies

primarily to manage personal issues. Representing

approved by their members.”1

an 8.8% utilisation rate against an industry average of

The

7.9%, Capricorn does well to promote the availability of
this offering and is pleased with the employee uptake.
Effective use of EAP supports our employees manage
their personal issues as well as work related issues which
improves productivity and reduces unplanned absences.
The availability of such a program also helps underscore
Capricorn’s commitment to the wellbeing of its employees.

Sustained employee engagement
Capricorn has been using Gallup’s Q12 engagement
survey as an indicator of employee engagement for the last
four year. Gallup’s client base is substantial, providing the
benefit for Capricorn to benchmark results against other
businesses both locally in Australia and New Zealand,
and globally with only employers of choice reaching
engagement scores of 4.4 or higher.

second

International

Co-operative

Principle,

"Democratic member control," enables communities
to own and govern co-operatives jointly. It means
co-operatives are accountable to all their members not
just the biggest shareholder - and this brings about
inclusive and sustainable growth, leaving no one behind.
1

International Co-operative Alliance, Statement on the Co-operative Identity, Values and

Principles, viewed 27 July 2020, https://www.ica.coop/en/cooperatives/cooperative-identity
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Sustainability Overview

Joint social sustainability initiatives with Governance Sustainability
our Members
It is a fundamental principle of Capricorn that all business
Capricorn have run a number of fundraising initiatives for
not-for-profit organisations in Australia and New Zealand,
offering our Members the ability to use their Capricorn

affairs must be conducted legally, ethically, in good faith
and with strict observance to the highest standards of
integrity, propriety and commercial standard. Capricorn

Reward Points to donate to these worthy charities.

documents its expectations of staff in its code of conduct.

•

Members have contributed to drought relief for

avoid or deal appropriately with any situation in which

farming communities with generous donations to the

they may have or be seen to have a conflict arising out of

Country Women’s Association;

a relationship with others within or beyond the company.

•

Their support of the Foundation for Rural & Regional
Renewal has assisted rebuilding bushfire devastated
towns; and

•

Donations to the Prostate Cancer Foundation has
provided research, education and support to men with
prostate cancer.

The code includes how Capricorn requires its staff to

Capricorn is committed to the effective management
of risk, as documented through the Operational Risk
Management Framework (ORMF) and the Compliance
Risk Management Framework (CRMF). These documents
together operationalise Capricorn's risk management
policy by providing the systems, processes and tools

Social Sustainability within Capricorn

to manage risk, and ensure compliance to Capricorn's

Throughout 2020, Capricorn took a number of actions to

accountabilities for risk management via the three lines of

address the risks of modern-day slavery in relation to its
operations and supply chains. These included the creation
of a modern slavery risk assessment evaluation tool and
modern slavery awareness training for all employees.

compliance obligations. Capricorn clearly defines the
defence model in which the Capricorn board has ultimate
responsibility for overseeing the implementation of risk
management within the organisation.

The appointment and renewal of suppliers now involves

Capricorn has no tolerance for any corrupt, illegal or

consideration of their modern slavery risk and contracting

otherwise undesirable conduct. Capricorn's Whistleblower

on terms that support Capricorn's commitment to the

policy is an important element in identifying wrongdoing

Modern Slavery Act 2018. Capricorn's focus in this area

that may not be uncovered unless there is a safe and secure

will be documented in a board-approved Modern Slavery

means for disclosure to the Whistleblower Protection

Statement.

Officer. All staff have received awareness training on

Through casual dress Friday, Capricorn provided support
to a wide variety of charitable initiatives. Among the
highlights was "Fluro for Neuro", where our staff dressed
in fluro to show support for MSWA (formerly knowns as

matters which would relate to the policy and the process
to report confidentially and anonymously. Capricorn's
Whistleblower policy is also made available to all Members
and Preferred Suppliers via the capricorn.coop website.

Multiple Sclerosis Society of Western Australia) and people

Further detail on Capricorn's commitment to governance

living with a neurological condition, and "Silence the CEO"

sustainability is set out in the corporate governance

where Capricorn's Group CEO David Fraser gave up his

section of the annual report.

voice for a day to raise awareness and money for kids living
with communication challenges in support for Variety
the children's charity. Throughout 2020, Capricorn staff
showed great generosity by raising over ten thousand
dollars for over 20 charities.
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Corporate Governance
Corporate governance is the framework of rules,

The board will:

relationships, systems and processes within and

develop a clear set of strategic objectives

by which authority is exercised and controlled in

designed to ensure sustainable creation,

companies. It influences how the objectives of

protection and return of value for current

the company are set and achieved, how risk is

and future Members;

monitored and assessed and how performance is
optimised. There is no single model of good
corporate governance. For Capricorn Society

obtain collaboration and support for
these strategic objectives from the

constitutes

monitor and review implementation of

good

corporate

governance

Membership;

will

evolve with our changing circumstances and as
such

will

be

tailored

to

meet

these strategic objectives; and

those

report regularly to Members as to the

circumstances.

implementation, monitoring and review

operative

and

Mutual

Enterprise

Governance Principles 1st

(CME)

as prepared by

the Business Council of Co-operatives and
Mutuals

of these strategic objectives.

Co-

The board

(BCCM).

It

should

be

noted

2. Lay solid foundations for
management and oversight

that

although there is no regulatory requirement to

The board is responsible for protecting the rights

comply

are

and interests of the Members and is accountable

acknowledged as best practice for CMEs within

to them for the overall direction and governance

Australia and as such the board has chosen to

of Capricorn.

with

these

principles,

they

adopt the recommendations.
The board is ultimately responsible for all
This statement:

matters relating to the operations of Capricorn

sets out the core principles identified by
the BCCM as underlying good corporate
governance that are in the view of the
board relevant to Capricorn; and
outlines the main corporate governance
practices of Capricorn. Unless otherwise
practices were in place throughout the
2020
best practice recommendations to the
extent considered appropriate by the
board as set out in this Statement.

rather than manage it.
In contrast, the role of senior management is to
manage

Capricorn

in

accordance

with

the

direction of the board.

Role of the board
The board seeks to identify the expectations of
the Members, as well as other regulatory and
ethical expectations and obligations. In addition,
significant

value

business

risk

and

ensuring

arrangements are in place to adequately manage

The board is responsible to create, protect and
return value to Members, which lies at the heart
CME

Members. The board aims to govern Capricorn

the board is responsible for identifying areas of

1. Create, protect and return Member

of

including protecting the rights and interests of its

governance.

The

development

of

strategic objectives to this effect provide an
accountability framework between the Members,
board and management.

those risks.
To ensure that the board is well equipped to
discharge its responsibilities, it has established
guidelines for the nomination and selection of
directors and for the operation of the board.
Before

appointing

any

director,

Capricorn

ensures that rigorous background checks are
conducted. This is detailed further below.
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All directors who are appointed to Capricorn

At all times the board retains full responsibility

receive detailed letters of appointment which

for

sets out matters including but not limited to:

discharging its stewardship, the board makes use

guiding

and

monitoring

Capricorn.

In

of sub-committees or delegates to management.

term of appointment;

This improves how the board manages key

time commitment envisaged;
special duties or arrangements including
involvement with committee work;
circumstances in which an office of
director becomes vacant;

strategic issues and these delegations are
reviewed at least annually, with a series of built
in reporting requirements, ensuring the board
oversight responsibilities are not diminished.
Specialist committees are able to focus on a

remuneration;

particular responsibility and provide informed

interests and any matters affecting the

feedback to the board. To this end the board has
established the following committees:

applicable board Code of Conduct (a

remuneration and nomination committee

summary of which Capricorn publishes as

(RNC)

part of the Corporate Documents section

mechanism for the detailed examination

of its website at www.capricorn.coop);

of

access to professional advice; and

remuneration practices within Capricorn

confidentiality and access to information.

including oversight of the nomination

which

the

provides

selection,

an

efficient

appointment

and

process for Member directors as a part of
The board maintains a detailed board charter and

the stated aim of ensuring Member

underlying policies as well as a governance

director elections are free and fair as well

protocols and procedures manual which contains
further detail on how the board charter and

corporate

underlying policies are to be applied. Matters are

including the role and structure of the

governance

framework

expressly reserved to the board for decision

board;

(details of which Capricorn publishes as part of

audit and risk committee (ARC) which

the Corporate Documents section of its website).

provides an efficient mechanism to focus

The board also undertakes an evaluation of its

on particular issues relevant to verifying
and safeguarding the integrity of

performance which is detailed below.
The

responsibility

for

the

operation

and

to providing general risk oversight; and

administration of Capricorn is delegated by the

Capricorn relationship committee (CRC)

board to the Group chief executive officer (Group

which provides an efficient mechanism

CEO)

executive

for the monitoring of and additional

leadership team (ELT). The board ensures that

assurance regarding the appropriateness

this

and

through

him

to

the

and

of transactions of a commercial nature

experienced to discharge their responsibilities

between Capricorn and Capricorn Mutual

and as such have in place procedures to assess

Limited (ACN 104 601 194) and its

team

is

appropriately

qualified

the performance of the Group CEO and the ELT.
Further details concerning this performance
review process appear below.

The role of the Group CEO

The Group CEO and other ELT members all have
formal job descriptions, internal delegations and
employment contracts describing their term of
office, duties, rights and responsibilities and
entitlements on termination.

day-to-day activities to achieve the agreed vision
policies, programs and parameters set by the
board. The Group CEO is the sole point of
accountability

between

operations of Capricorn.

the

board

and

the
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The

board

delegates

to

the

Group

CEO

responsibility for the implementation of its
strategic direction/strategic plan while complying
with

the

Group

CEO

delegation/limitations

policies as set out in the board charter.

carry out other duties related to the corporate

board, the vision and strategy and
developing actions and plans to achieve
the vision and implement the strategy.
Reporting to the board on the progress
against those plans;
appointing an ELT and negotiating terms
and conditions for approval by the board
through its RNC. Developing succession
plans, providing strong leadership to the
management team and all employees,
employees

are

properly

instructed to achieve a safe workplace,
compliance

with

laws

and

d confirming that a
high

level

of

ethical

behaviour

is

expected;
reporting

to

the

board

on

various

matters, including all matters requiring
review or approval, Capricorn corporate
projects, significant changes to the risk
profile,

certification

(with

the

Chief

Financial Officer) to the board on the
truth and fairness of the financial
statements, adequacy of policies as
regards

effectiveness of the board and its committees,
company secretary as required by law as well as

formulating and reviewing, with the

ensuring

The company s
perform the duties and responsibilities of a

Specific roles include:

ensuring

The role of the company secretary

risk

management,

monthly

reporting on performance of businesses
and continual education of directors of
Capricorn, its business environment and
relevant changes of law;
acting within delegated authority levels
for capital expenditure, sale of assets,
appointment

and

termination

of

executives; and

administration

of

Capricorn.

The

company

secretary is accountable to the board chairman
and Group CEO concerning the board function.
The company secretary also performs the dual
role

at

Capricorn

of

general

counsel

with

responsibilities for additional functions as part of
that role.
Specific roles as company secretary include:
advisor

on

preparation

governance matters
and

filing

of

and

corporate

documents;
ensuring board policies and procedures
are being followed;
timely co-ordination and despatch of
board and committee papers and the
accurate recording of meeting minutes;
and
organisation and facilitation of director
appointment and induction.

Group CEO & executive performance
The remuneration package for the Group CEO
and ELT comprise of a fixed cash element and
variable incentive components. The variable
components will depend upon the performance
of Capricorn and personal performance of the
individual concerned.
Performance plans and metrics are documented
on an annual basis for each executive in
conjunction with the Group CEO, which are linked
to the achievement of strategic objectives. Such

all other matters necessary for the

objectives are formally reviewed by the Group

day-to-day management of Capricorn

CEO on a quarterly basis to ensure on target

and not those reserved for the board.

outcomes. The board undertakes a similar

Capricorn

exercise with the Group CEO.

publishes

a

statement

of

Matters Reserved to the board as part of
the Corporate Documents section of its

Capricorn has written employment contracts in

website at www.capricorn.coop.

place for the Group CEO and each executive
providing

a

mechanism

for

bringing

the

employment relationship to an end with specified
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notice periods, which are consistent with industry

The Capricorn constitution allows for three

benchmarks. There is a formal performance

non-member directors, providing the board with

management system in place to assist in working

the option to appoint directors who satisfy the

with an underperforming executive and internal
human

resource

professionals

available

to

allowing the board to gain access to special skills

oversee the process and outcomes.

or knowledge not already present on the board.
The non-member directors were selected and

3. Structure the board to add Member

appointed

value

based

on

their

relevant

skills,

knowledge and experience. Capricorn has three
non-member directors: Mr Mario Pirone, Mr
Bruce Rathie and Ms Donna Vinci.

Director independence
The board believes that the interests of the
shareholders are best served by directors having
the appropriate skills, experience and contacts
within Capric

board

members are non-executive directors, meaning
they are not involved in the day to day
management of Capricorn. All board members
Person

Policy

which

sets

out

minimum

requirements of fitness and propriety to serve as
a Capricorn director.

It should be noted that where any director has a
material personal interest in a matter, the
director will not be permitted to be present
during discussions or to vote on the matter. The
enforcement of this requirement should ensure
that the interest of shareholders, as a whole, is
pursued.
The

Capricorn

constitution

states

that

all

non-executive Member directors are appointed
for a fixed term of four years. Independent
directors may be appointed for such period as
directors may decide not exceeding four years.

recommends that a majority of board members
and the position of board chairman should be
independent. As per constitutional requirements,
some Capricorn directors maintain business
relationships with Capricorn and are trading
Members

of

the

corporatised

trading

co-

operative which is Capricorn.

At the end of their four year term, Member
directors are required to retire and if they have
successfully completed the company directors
course

run

by

the

Australian

Institute

of

Company Directors in their first term, they are
considered eligible to stand for

re-election

provided they satisfy all other relevant criteria.
constitution provides for maximum

It is a matter of interpretation as to whether such

director terms such that:

Member directors are able to satisfy a definition

the maximum service period for directors

of

holding office in the day before the 2012

independence

based

on

materiality

annual general meeting is 16 years and
business relationships maintained by Member
directors with the Group cannot be considered
material in the overall context of the Group. The
of less than 10 years. After considering these
issues, the board is of the view that in the
context of a co-operative governance model, the
fact that all directors are non-executive directors
is

in

itself

a

sufficient

indicator

governance within the Group.

of

good

six months; and
the maximum service period for directors
elected or appointed on or after the date
of the 2012 annual general meeting is 12
years and 6 months.
The maximum director term requirements were
Meeting. The Capricorn board considers turnover
in board membership healthy for Capricorn. The
infusion of new perspectives, ideas and energy
from each electoral zone is important.
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The setting of maximum director terms provides

to provide the board with additional

for this healthy turnover and ensures that the

assurances

board can maintain an independent perspective

integrity and suitability of

on strategic decisions made.

nominations

regarding

the

and

quality,
director

to

make

recommendations on the final list of
there needs to be a clear division of responsibility

nominating Members eligible for election
to the board. The Committee performs a

at the head of Capricorn and as such prevents

similar role in respect of the appointment

the Group CEO from becoming a director,

of any non-executive Member director.

thereby ensuring the roles of chairman and

As part of this process, appropriate

Group CEO are not to be exercised by the same

background checks are conducted on all

person.

director candidates including reference
checks and criminal and credit history
searches;

Board Chairman

to determine remuneration policies and

The board chairman is Mr Mark Cooper. Mr

practices for Capricorn as a whole,

Cooper is a non-executive Member director. The

including those affecting the Group CEO

chairman is responsible for leadership of the

and the ELT who report to the Group

board, for the efficient organisation and conduct
of the board

CEO;

d for the briefing of all

to assist the board to discharge its duty

directors in relation to issues arising at board
meetings.

As

appropriate,

the

with

chairman

represents the board and the organisation to

to

its

employment

including performance management and

outside parties.

Remuneration

regard

responsibilities towards the Group CEO
conditions of employment; and

and

to

Nomination

Committee

advice

and

assurance

on

framework including advice on recent
developments in Corporate Governance

The Capricorn board has determined that it is

best practice.

appropriate that a number of functions of the
board would more effectively be carried out by

give

the RNC.

Upon the retirement or expiration of their term

The RNC consists of four non-executive directors

formal and transparent election procedure within

from the Capricorn board. The RNC provides an
efficient mechanism for the detailed examination
of the selection, appointment and remuneration
practices of Capricorn.
The RNC terms of reference clearly sets out its
role and responsibilities, composition, structure
and membership requirements. The primary
objectives of the RNC can be summarised as
follows:
to give the board advice regarding the
size and composition of the board and to
assist the board to discharge its duty
with regard to director development and
succession planning;

as a Member director, Capricorn undertakes a
the zone of that Member director, the details of
The procedure is considered to be consistent with
the

requirements

of

the

CME

Governance

Principles.
As

a

voluntary

procedure,

element

candidates

can

of

such
submit

election
to

the

Capricorn candidate assessment process through
which their skills, experience and attributes are
assessed by Capricorn against the range of skills
and competencies relevant to being a director of
Capricorn. Candidates are provided with an
individual rating which in turn may be disclosed
to Members in materials accompanying the
relevant ballot papers.
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The names of those appointed to the RNC are as

The

follows:

independent governance specialist took place in

last

formal

review

conducted

by

an

June 2018.

Mr Peter Stewart GAICD (chairman);
Mr Russell Becker FAICD;

4. Act ethically and responsibly

Mr Mark Cooper GAICD; and

Code of conduct

Mr Philip Saxton GAICD.

The Capricorn board has established a board

Access to independent advice

charter

Directors and board committees have the right,
in

connection

with

their

duties

and

responsibilities, to seek independent professional
approval of the chairman is required, but this will
not be unreasonably withheld.

and

respective

Codes

of

document for both the board and the employees
of Capricorn, including the ELT. These Codes
ensure practices are in place and operating so

also ensure the identification and investigation of
any reports of unethical practices.

Board evaluation

Under each Code of Conduct, the directors and

The board through the RNC has a structured

senior management are expected to:

process in place to review and evaluate the

act honestly and in good faith;

performance of the board, board sub committees

exercise

and individual directors.

formal review conducted by an independent
governance specialist. This review will examine
the performance of the board as a whole, the
performance of individual directors and the
performance of the chairman. The review also
considers board composition and skill-set, board
decision making and processes as well as
flows.

The

due

care

and

diligence

review

has

both

use their powers to act in the best
interests of the company as a whole;
avoid conflicts and make full disclosure of
any possible conflicts of interest;
comply with any applicable laws;
be independent in judgment and ensure
all reasonable steps are taken to be
satisfied as to the soundness of board

quantitative and qualitative measures and takes

and management decisions; and

account of the views of individual directors.

encourage

The review is conducted with the aim of
continuous improvement and results in individual
professional development plans for each director
facilitated by the chairman as well as other
specific initiatives based on its findings. The
review is a key part of how the board reflects on
its own performance and its rigour and method
is something that the Capricorn board is proud
of.
In any year where the board does not undertake
a formal review, an informal review will be
carried out by the board under the guidance of
the chairman.

in

fulfilling the functions of office;

The board will undertake every 2-3 years a

information

Conduct

the

reporting

and

investigation of unlawful and unethical
behaviour.
The Group has its own whistleblower policy under
which any conduct in breach of Capricorn policy
and standards of expected behaviour can be
reported for investigation and appropriate action.
Further detail regarding the Code of Conduct can
be found below in Section 7 of this Corporate
Governance Statement. Capricorn also publishes
a summary of its board code of conduct as part
of the Corporate Documents section of its
website at www.capricorn.coop.
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b) The financial statements and associated

Share trading policy

notes give a true and fair view, in all material

The Capricorn board has established a share
trading policy which applies to all Capricorn
Member directors and addresses when Capricorn
Member directors can trade in Capricorn shares.
Member directors cannot trade in Capricorn
shares

when

they

possess

price

sensitive

information (as broadly defined), either for
personal gain or for the gain of any other person
amongst any other reason.
Following

any

Capricorn

respects, of the financial position as at 30
June 2020 and performance of Capricorn
(and the consolidated entity) for the year
then ended as required by Section 297 of the
Corporations Act 2001.
2. With regard to the financial records and
systems of risk management and internal
compliance and control of Capricorn for the
year ended 30 June 2020:

announcement

or

release of information concerning Capricorn

a) The financial records of Capricorn have
been properly maintained in accordance
with Section 286 of the Corporations Act
2001;

should wait at least four days after the relevant
announcement or release before dealing in

b) The statements made in (1) above

Capricorn shares so that all Members and

regarding the integrity of the financial

potential Members have had time to absorb the
information.

statements are founded on a sound
system of risk management and internal
compliance and control which, in all

Capricorn independent directors and Capricorn

material

senior

policies adopted by the board;

management

are

ineligible

to

own

Capricorn shares.

c) The

respects,

risk

management

compliance
shares to be traded on the open market. The
constitution does, however, include provisions
that facilitate the repurchase of shares by
Capricorn and the transfer of shares to other
persons. It should be noted that the board has
the right to decline any transfers if the transferee
is not eligible for membership amongst other

implements

and

and

control

the

internal

systems

of

Capricorn (and the consolidated entity)
relating to financial reporting objectives
are operating effectively, in all material
respects; and
d) Subsequent to 30 June 2020, no changes
or other matters have arisen that would
have a material effect on the operation

grounds.

of

5.

Capricorn (and the consolidated entity).

Safeguarding

risk

management

compliance

integrity

in

CME

reporting

and

and

control

internal

systems

of

3. There are reasonable grounds to believe
Capricorn will be able to pay its debts as and

Corporate reporting
The Group CEO and chief financial officer have

when they become due and payable.

Audit and Risk Committee

made the following certifications to the board:
The Capricorn board has determined that it is
1. With regard to the integrity of the financial
report of Capricorn for the year ended 30

more efficient to appoint the ARC to focus on
particular

issues

relating

to

verifying

and

June 2020:
a) The financial statements and associated
notes comply in all material respects with the
Accounting Standards as required by Section
296 of the Corporations Act 2001; and

financial reporting. The ARC is to report to the
board at the next board meeting following each
of its meetings and now consists of five
non-executive
board.

directors

from

the

Capricorn
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The ARC terms of reference clearly set out its role

Ms Julie Wadley GAICD; and

and responsibilities, composition, structure and

Ms Donna Vinci GAICD.

membership requirements.
The

are

Auditor attendance at Annual General

establish and maintain procedures in
relation to the external auditor selection,

Capricorn ensures, as per its own policy, for the

key

responsibilities

of

the

ARC

summarised below:

appointment and lead partner rotation;
recommend

to

the

board

the

Meeting

lead audit engagement partner to be present at
the AGM and to answer any questions from the
shareholders about the conduct of the audit and

appointment of the external auditors and
the quantum of their fees;

report.

oversee, co-ordinate and appraise the
quality

of

the

maintain,

audits conducted

by

scheduling

by

regular

meetings, open lines of communications
among the
auditors

to

board and the external
exchange

views

and

information, as well as confirm their
respective authority and responsibilities;

6. Make timely and balanced disclosure
The

Capricorn

board

places

considerable

importance on effective communications with its
Members

in

their

capacity

as

Capricorn

shareholders.
The board, through its Continuous Disclosure
Policy and Communications Policy, ensures that

serve as an independent and objective

the Member shareholders are informed of all

party to review the financial information

material

submitted by management to the board

state of affairs. Information is communicated to

for issue to shareholders and regulatory
means:

authorities;
review the adequacy of the reporting and

via

accounting controls of Capricorn;

www.capricorn.coop and in particular

review, assess and keep the board
reasonably informed as to the adequacy
and performance of the internal audit

the

Capricorn

website,

under the Corporate Documents (a link
to which is found on the website home
page or by clicking here);
by lodging documents with the Australian

function;

Securities and Investments Commission
as required by law;

program;
ensure that adequate procedures are in
place for the identification, management
and monitoring of risk; and
monitor

the

standard

of

the Annual Shareholders' Report;
the Capricorn Report;
notices and explanatory memoranda of

corporate

conduct in areas such as conflicts of
interest.
The names of those currently appointed to the
ARC are as follows:
Mr Mario Pirone B.Bus, Grad. Dip. Bus,

(AGM);
notices and explanatory memoranda of
the chairman/director and Group CEO
add

FCPA. (chairman)
Mr Bruce Rathie B.Comm, LLB, MBA,
FIML, FAICD, FGIA, Grad Dip CSP, SA Fin;
Mr David Kemp GAICD;

during the AGM itself;
occasional

letters

from

the

board
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chairman and Group CEO to specifically

charter and a Code of Conduct and a variety of

inform shareholders of key matters of

policies for all employees, the purpose of which

interest;

is as follows:
to ensure compliance with all relevant

and

legislation;
s monthly CapChat email.

to fulfil the reasonable expectations of
the communities in which Capricorn
operates, by acknowledging the rights of
various stakeholders;

obligations as a Disclosing Entity under the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and records and
communicates

its

commitment

to

do

so.

Capricorn publishes a summary of its Continuous
Disclosure Policy as part of the Corporate
Documents

section

of

its

website

at

www.capricorn.coop.

to enhance the reputation of Capricorn
within the financial community and its
Members;
to

improve

the

performance

of

Capricorn;
to inform employees of the board

7. Respect the rights of Members and
other stakeholders

expectations
obligations

of
of

them,

including

raising

and

the

pursuing

concerns of non-compliance or unethical
behaviour; and
.

Communications Policy as detailed in Section 6
of the Corporate Governance Statement, ensures
that the Member shareholders are informed of all
material

Company

developments

and

are

encouraged to participate in the governance of

A summary of areas covered by the board
charter and Code of Conduct and related policies
are as follows:

Capricorn. This approach is consistent with the

board and director code of ethics;

cooperative

whistleblower policy;

principles

promoted

by

the

International Cooperatives Alliance on which
Capricorn has operated since its inception,

strategic direction and planning;

especially the principle of democratic Member

continuous disclosure;

control.

conflict of interest;

Capricorn has enshrined in its constitution the
ability for all Members to exercise their voting
rights through direct voting, in addition to
exercising their right to appoint a proxy holder.

responsibilities
stakeholders;

for

dealing

with

compliance;

This additional option improves the ability of

improper use of Capricorn information;

Members to participate and exercise their votes

the use and accounting of Capricorn

at meetings of Members.

resources

Capricorn ensures that its corporate website
contains all

relevant

details concerning

its

corporate governance practices including profiles
and pictures of directors and the ELT. Capricorn
also encourages and permits Members to receive
and send communication to Capricorn (and its
internal share registry team) through electronic
means.
The Capricorn board has also established a board

and

general

management;
alcohol, drug and tobacco use;
work, health and safety;
unacceptable behaviour;
grievance procedure and policy;
disclosure of information;
risk management;

financial
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non-discriminatory practices and equal
altogether, rather to manage the risks that are

employment opportunities; and

inevitably involved in the various activities it

confidentiality.

undertakes in a conscious and informed manner.
The emphasis is to maximise opportunities and

Capricorn/Capricorn Mutual Limited

minimise the impact of negative outcomes.
Capricorn will conduct all its activities with due

The Capricorn board determined it appropriate to

regard for the risks involved.

establish a committee called the Capricorn
Society
Limited/Capricorn
Mutual
Limited

International Standards on Risk Management

Relationship Committee (CRC) in October 2009.

31010), provide a generic guide to assist in the

The CRC consists of a non-member chairman and
three other directors. None of these directors
serves on the board of the Mutual.

and Risk Assessment, (ISO 31000:2009 and ISO
establishment and implementation of the risk
management process within an organisation.
Capricorn has developed and implemented its
risk management framework to be consistent

The CRC terms of reference clearly set out its role

with these international standards.

and responsibilities, composition, structure and

The objectives of the Capricorn risk management

membership

process are as follows:

requirements.

The

primary

function and objective of the CRC was to give the
board

additional

assurance

regarding

the

appropriateness of transactions of a commercial
nature between Capricorn and the Mutual. It is
convened only when considered necessary by

continuously identify and measure risks
that might impact upon the achievement
jectives;
monitor the external environment for

members of the CRC or the Capricorn chairman.

emerging factors and trends that affect

The names of those appointed to the CRC are as

manage risks within Capricorn in a

follows:

the identified risks;
conscious and informed manner and

Mr Mario Pirone B.Bus, Grad. Dip. Bus,

within acceptable tolerances;

FCPA (chairman);

ensure

Mr David Kemp GAICD;

incorporated

Mr Philip Saxton GAICD; and

including through ongoing monitoring;

that

risk
into

management
the

is

corporate

governance and management systems,

Ms Donna Vinci GAICD.

ensure that significant risks within
Capricorn are identified and that

8. Recognise and manage risk

appropriate strategies are in place to
manage the identified risks;

Risk management

encourage proactive management and

Risk is inherent in all the corporate activities
undertaken by Capricorn and therefore, sound
business practice and corporate governance

individual accountability;
establish a reliable basis for decision
making and planning;

standards demand that formal and systematic

improve organisational resilience; and

approaches to risk management are incorporated

provide assurance that the objectives of
Capricorn will be met.

into business activities. Capricorn believes that a
consistent and structured approach to risk
management will improve decision
performance
management

and

accountability.

practices

also

making,

These

risk

consider

the

question of organisational sustainability.

To this end, comprehensive practices are in place
that are directed towards achieving the following
objectives:
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resources;

budgets, appraisal and review procedures and

compliance with applicable laws and
regulations; and
preparation

of

reliable

financial

information for publication.
The

board,

through

the

levels of authority as well as an investment policy
with appropriate benchmarks; and
Internal audit
Capricorn has an internal audit framework to

ARC,

has

the

responsibility of ensuring that appropriate risk
management processes and systems exist within
Capricorn. This is reviewed throughout each

provide

systematic,

objective

appraisal

by

internal audit staff of the operations, systems
and controls within Capricorn. This internal audit
function is performed by full-time Capricorn staff.

year. The responsibility for undertaking and
assessing risk management and internal control
effectiveness is delegated to management.

9. Remunerate fairly and responsibly
Group CEO evaluation

Internal control framework

The Capricorn board has determined that the
The board acknowledges that it is responsible for

Group CEO will be equipped with the knowledge

the

and information to properly discharge their

overall

internal

control

framework

but

recognises that no cost-effective internal control

responsibilities

system will preclude all errors and irregularities.

performance

To assist in discharge

reviewed.

ng this responsibility, the board has instigated an

The board through the RNC has a process in

internal control framework designed to safeguard

place to review the performance of the Group

and
will

be

that

their

regularly

individual
and

fairly

CEO.
the integrity of reporting. The internal control
framework can be summarised as follows:
systematically and rigorously assessed by the
Financial reporting

board

There is a comprehensive budgeting system with
an annual budget approved by the directors.
Monthly actual results are reported against
budget and revised forecasts for the year are
prepared regularly. Certification is provided in
respect of the Annual Report by the Group CEO
and chief financial officer as detailed in Section 5
of the Corporate Governance Statement;

Capricorn has identified a number of key areas
that are subject to regular reporting to the board,
as

particular

technology,
emphasis

treasury,
on

legal

competition

achievement

of

the

board

with

Group

CEO

delegation

and

limitation

policies. Although the board is responsible for
Group CEO performance management, the RNC
undertakes to make recommendations to the
board in relation to the same including the review
of the Group CEO performance process, the
setting of goals for the year and in reviewing
progress in achieving these goals.

Functional speciality reporting

such

against

determined strategic outcomes and compliance

(with
and

consumer law), insurance and work health and
safety matters;
Investment appraisal
Capricorn has clearly defined guidelines for
capital expenditure and investments. These
include in respect of capital expenditure annual

Board, Group CEO and executive
remuneration
The Capricorn board through the RNC has a
process in place to review the remuneration of
the board, Group CEO and ELT to ensure due
process, appropriate performance evaluation and
a review of empirical market evidence. In this
context, the activities of the RNC can be
summarised as overseeing:
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executive remuneration and incentive
policies;
Group CEO remuneration and incentive
policies;

Remuneration of key management personnel has
been included in Note 14 of the Financial
Statements.

termination policies and procedures for
senior executives; and

Board and management use of expert
advisors

board remuneration framework.
Capricorn engages annually Korn Ferry Hay
The board has established policies in relation to
the

remuneration

of

directors

and

senior

executives, as follows:

consulting firm to provide expert counsel and
opinion on remuneration matters. Capricorn uses
discrete consultants with appropriate separation

Directors

to advise the board versus management so as to

Directors will be paid fees generally in the range

opinion received. Hay Group was previously

maintain the integrity and independence of the

of the 50th to 75th percentile of the market
average based on advice from an independent
advisor. Statutory superannuation will be paid in
addition to these fees. The last external review

appointed by the board and the RNC as advisors,
reporting to the chairman of the RNC.
Management through the Group CEO and the
general counsel (in his role as the general

of director fees was conducted in June 2018.

manager with overall accountability for people

Remuneration of directors has been included in

as needed, to assist with remuneration matters

and development)

also works with Hay Group,

Note 14 of the Financial Statements.

not involving the executive. Management has

Group CEO & ELT

employee engagement survey.

Remuneration
competitive

packages

are

both

retain

to

also engaged and used Gallup to conduct the

set

to

the

be

Group

CEO/executives and attract experienced Group
CEO/executives

to

Capricorn

and

are

benchmarked against market rates extracted
from multiple sources of empirical remuneration
evidence provided by independent sources. The
packages comprise of a fixed cash element and
variable incentive components.

of

Capricorn

remuneration policy has as its core
objective to attract and retain key talent who
have the requisite skills and capabilities to drive
business
outcomes.

performance

and

Individuals

deliver

are

strategic

remunerated

commensurate with internal job evaluations,
median market benchmarks and performance
achievements.

The variable components will depend upon the
performance

Alignment of remuneration policy

and

personal

Mix of base and incentive pay

performance of the individual concerned. Every 2
3 years an independent firm is engaged to

Capricorn provides at risk incentive components

review the positions and assess the salaries paid

for positions to assist with the development of

to the Group CEO and the ELT of Capricorn to

desired behaviours which drive business growth

ensure that they remain relative to market

and achievement of strategic objectives. Such
incentives are captured in annual short-term

remuneration

benchmarks.

The

last

formal

review being conducted in 2019. In any interim

incentive

period, the Group CEO and executive positions

performance criteria and metrics which must be

are remunerated in accordance with applicable

met to be rewarded. These are reviewed annually

remuneration

as

to ensure their competitiveness and alignment

assessed, as described under the heading below

with the delivery of strategy. Capricorn does not

bands

for

their

position

schemes

which

provide

specific
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provide

equity-based

remuneration

to

its

to the achievement of strategic objectives. Such
objectives are formally reviewed by the Group

directors or executive.

CEO on a quarterly basis to ensure on target

Use of benchmarks

outcomes. The board undertakes a similar

Hay Group undertake an independent evaluation
of each executive position determining its

Employment contracts

exercise with the Group CEO.

relative ranking against predetermined criteria,
which is updated as a position changes in scope
and accountabilities. Every two to three years,

Capricorn has written employment contracts in
place for the Group CEO and each executive

Hay Group undertakes a market remuneration

providing

analysis of like ranked positions and makes

employment relationship to an end with specified

recommendations on the Total Annual Reward

notice periods, which are consistent with industry

for each position which are used in the absence

benchmarks. There is a formal performance

of

specific

formal

review

by

a

mechanism

for

bringing

the

position.

management system in place to assist in working

Performance plans and metrics are documented

with an underperforming executive and internal

on an annual basis for each executive in

human

conjunction with the Group CEO, which are linked

oversee the process and outcomes.

resource

professionals

available

to
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Your directors present their report on the
company and its controlled entities for the

2.

Business review

financial year ended 30 June 2020.

Operating results

1.

The consolidated profit of the Group after

General information

providing

directors

income

tax

amounted

to

$13,146,000 (2019: $20,411,000). The profit of

Directors
The

for

the
of

Capricorn

Society Limited

parent

entity

was

$8,678,000

(2019:

$16,689,000).

or since the end of, the year are:

Dividends paid or recommended

Names

Dividends declared and paid during the year on
contributed equity are as follows:

Mark Cooper (Chairman)

Fully franked ordinary dividend of 7 cents per

Mario Pirone (Vice Chairman)

share $10,952,000, declared June 2020.

Russell Becker (Member Director)
Philip Saxton (Member Director)

Fully franked ordinary dividend of 11 cents per
share

Julie Wadley (Member Director)

$15,592,000,

declared

and

paid

September 2019.

David Kemp (Member Director)
Peter Stewart (Member Director)

Operating and financial review

Bruce Rathie (Independent Director)

The consolidated profit of the Group for the year

Donna Vinci (Independent Director)

after providing for income tax amounted to
$13,146,000 (2019: $20,411,000).

The qualifications and experience of the directors
and the company secretary has been set out in
pages 10 to 14 of the Annual Report.

Total purchases by Members from continuing

Principal activity

year (2019: $2,041,680,000). Net collections

of

Capricorn

increased

to

$2,187,623,000 being 7.15% higher than last
were $104,821,000 (2019: $99,289,000), an

The principal activity of the Group during the
financial year was the operation of an automotive
parts and accessories buying company operating
along cooperative principles. The Group provides
trade account credit to Members who operate
within the Automotive aftermarket industry.
Subsidiary entities provide travel, business risk
services

including

the

Mutual,

financial

services

management of
and

the

technology

services.
There have been no significant changes in the
nature of the Group's principal activities during
the financial year.

operations

increase of 5.58%.
In

2020

Members

have

benefited

from

$32,461,000 (2019: $30,290,000) in Reward
Points

and

Member

Trading

Rebates

of

$13,398,000 in relation to 2020 purchases from
Preferred

Suppliers

(2019:

$10,000,000).

Members also receive:
free

access

providing

to

Capricorn

Members

with

Service
online

Data,
service

information covering thousands of vehicles;
free access to The Workshop, an online
community to connect with other Capricorn
Members, to ask questions and provide input;
and
access to AutoBoost, providing a range of free
and paid online tools to help them better run
their businesses.
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The

Board

has

maintained

a

conservative

30 June 2020
Rounding

investment strategy recognising volatility and
increases in capital markets and as such has
retained significant cash reserves during the year
ended 30 June 2020.

The amounts contained in this report and in the
financial report have been rounded to the nearest
$1,000 (unless otherwise stated) and where

The investment property at Welshpool Road,
Welshpool was tenanted throughout the year.
The fair value of the Welshpool property has
increased $320,000 in line with a valuation

noted ($’000) under the option available to the
Company under ASIC Corporations (Rounding in
Financial/Directors

Report)

Instrument

2016/191. The Company is an entity to which the
instrument applies.

received from Savills 2020.
In 2020 the Group’s investment income on its
share portfolio recorded an unrealised loss of
$2,753,000 as a result of COVID-19.
Capricorn’s strategic plan is to drive profitable
growth

in

Capricorn’s

principal

business

activities.
In

the

3.

Other items

Significant change in state of affairs
There has been no significant change in the state
of affairs of the Group during the financial year.

Auditor's independence declaration
short

to

medium

term,

Capricorn

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001

continues to recognise technology as a key

requires our auditors Ernst & Young, to provide

enabler to support its business strategy and

the

objectives.

Independence Declaration in relation to the audit

This is a constant challenge in the

ever-changing

digital

landscape

of

directors

of

the

Company

with

an

today’s

of the financial report. This declaration is set out

business world and Capricorn is looking to

on page 44 and forms part of this directors'

expand the current limited choice of digital

report for the year ended 30 June 2020.

interactions for its Members and Suppliers.

Non-audit services
Development of a digital platform will leverage
existing assets and add new capability that will

The following non-audit services were provided

deliver value through easier integration with

by the entity’s auditor, Ernst & Young. The

partners, improve the Member and Supplier

directors are satisfied that the provision of non-

experience and facilitate exciting new future

audit services is compatible with the general

projects and programs.

standard of independence for auditors imposed
by the Corporations Act 2001. The nature and

Capricorn has and will continue to identify and

scope of each type of non-audit service provided

assess potential diversification opportunities that

means

may allow it to leverage its current resources and

compromised.

that

audit

independence

was

not

capabilities to both reduce overall risk through
diversification and improve returns to Members.

Ernst & Young have received, or are due to
receive, the following amounts for the provision

No options to shares in the Company have been

of non-audit services:

granted during the financial year and there were
no options outstanding at the end of the financial

Tax compliance and advisory

year.

services

$67,579
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Events after the end of the reporting period
Since the end of the reporting period no significant events have occurred which may impact on the results
for the year ended 30 June 2020.

Information on Directors
Information relating to the experience, qualifications and other details on the directors is contained in the
Corporate Governance statement.
Directors' interests at the date of this report
2020

2019

No. of Shares

No. of Shares

Mark Cooper

257,681

201,785

Russell Becker

142,133

123,543

Julie Wadley

191,945

105,900

David Kemp

29,441

22,019

Shareholding of Directors

Philip Saxton

111,021

91,009

Peter Stewart

154,987

130,096

Total

887,208

674,352

Independent directors (being Mr Mario Pirone, Mr Bruce Rathie and Ms Donna Vinci) cannot own shares in
Capricorn Society Limited.
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Movements in the relevant interests of each director in the share capital of the Company up to the date
of this report are as follows:

2020
Dividend
2019

Reinvested

Shares

Shares

2020

Balance

in Shares

Purchased

Sold

Balance

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

Mark Cooper

201,785

22,196

33,700

-

257,681

Russell Becker

123,543

13,590

5,000

-

142,133

Julie Wadley

105,900

11,649

74,396

-

191,945

David Kemp

22,019

2,422

5,000

-

29,441

Philip Saxton

91,009

10,012

10,000

-

111,021

Peter Stewart

130,096

14,310

10,581

-

154,987

Total

674,352

74,179

138,677

-

887,208

Shares

Shares

2019

2019
Dividend
2018 Reinvested in
Balance

Shares

Purchased

Sold

Balance

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

Mark Cooper

147,332

16,229

38,224

-

201,785

Russell Becker

106,796

11,747

5,000

-

123,543

Julie Wadley

44,242

4,867

56,791

-

105,900

David Kemp

15,333

1,686

5,000

-

22,019

Philip Saxton

72,981

8,028

10,000

-

91,009

Peter Stewart

109,587

12,055

8,454

-

130,096

Total

496,271

54,612

123,469

-

674,352
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Directors meetings
The number of directors' meetings (including meetings of committees of directors held) and number of
meetings attended by each of the directors during the financial year were:

Remuneration and

Audit & Risk

Directors' Meetings

Committee Meetings

Nominations
Committee Meetings

Eligible

Number

Eligible

Number

Eligible

Number

to attend

attended

to attend

attended

to attend

attended

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

8

8

-

1

4

4

8

8

5

5

-

-

Russell Becker

8

8

-

1

4

4

Julie Wadley

8

8

4

4

1

1

David Kemp

8

8

5

5

-

-

Philip Saxton

8

8

1

2

3

3

Mark Cooper
(Chairman)
Mario Pirone
(Vice Chairman)

Peter Stewart

8

8

-

1

4

4

Bruce Rathie

8

8

5

5

-

-

Donna Vinci

8

8

3

3

Directors can be invited to attend committee meetings as a guest.
The Group/Mutual Relationship Committee is convened only when considered necessary by Members of
the committee or the Company Chairman, see page 33. The Committee did not meet during the 2020
financial year.

Committee membership
As at the date of this report, the Company had an Audit and Risk Committee, a Remuneration and
Nomination Committee and a Capricorn Relationship Committee of the Board of Directors.
Members acting on the committees of the board are:
Audit & Risk

Remuneration & Nomination

Committee

Committee

Committee

Mario Pirone (Chairman)

Peter Stewart (Chairman)

Mario Pirone (Chairman)

Bruce Rathie

Mark Cooper

David Kemp

Julie Wadley

Phil Saxton

Phil Saxton

David Kemp

Russell Becker

Donna Vinci

Donna Vinci

Capricorn Relationship
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an undertaking to maintain and, to the

Environmental legislation

extent

permitted

by

law,

pay

the

premiums on an insurance policy which

The Group is not subject to any significant
environmental legislation.

insures directors and the other officers

5.

incurred as an officer of Capricorn or a
related body corporate (except liability

referred

Insurance premiums

breach of certain

insurance premiums in respect of its directors,
executive officers and secretaries and those of its

costs and expenses incurred by the
relevant

officer

in

defending

against

liability

provisions of the

Corporations Act 2001).
During

their

term

of

office

or

eligible

appointment period and:

proceedings; and

or

other liabilities that may arise from their

where an action, or an inquiry or hearing

position, with the exception of conduct
involving a wilful breach of duty or
improper use of information or position
to gain a personal advantage or any
other liability that Capricorn is prohibited
at

law

from

paying

an

insurance

premium in respect of.

the liabilities and the amount of the premium.

Capricorn has entered into standard deeds of
access, insurance and indemnity with its officers
(including directors) as well as the current Chief
Executive Officer and current key management
principal

provisions

of

the

Capricorn deeds, subject to the terms above,
relate to:
the granting of certain indemnities in
favour of the directors or other officers
referred to above in respect of liability
which they incur as an officer of
Capricorn or a related body corporate or
as otherwise referred to above, except
where the liability arises out of conduct
involving

a

lack

indemnification

of
is

required to appear before, is commenced
or threatened prior to the expiry of the 7
Year

Period

or

the

date

of

final

determination or abandonment of the

good

faith

otherwise

or
not

permitted under the CA;
the provision of access to board papers
according to context; and

of final completion of the inquiry or
hearing (as the case may be), whichever

Indemnification of auditors

insurance and indemnity

The

is or has a reasonable prospect of being

last occurs.

Indemnification and deeds of

personnel.

of a Government Agency that the officer

action, including any appeals, or the date

The contract prohibits disclosure of the nature of

6.

above

arising out of a wilful breach of duty or

During the financial year, Capricorn has paid

subsidiaries under the Corporations Act 2001

to

To the extent permitted by law, the Group has
agreed to indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young,
as part of the terms of its audit engagement
agreement against claims by third parties arising
from the audit (for an unspecified amount). No
payment has been made to indemnify Ernst &
Young during or since the financial year.

2) the2)directors
the directors
have received
have received
declarations
declarations
in accordance
in accordance
with section
with section
295A of
295A
the of
Corporations
the Corporations
Act 2001
Act 2001
from the
from
Chief
the Executive
Chief Executive
OfficerOfficer
and Chief
and Financial
Chief Financial
Officer;
Officer;
and and
3) in 3)
the in
directors’
the directors’
opinion,
opinion,
there are
there
reasonable
are reasonable
grounds
grounds
to believe
to believe
that the
that
company
the company
will bewill
able
betoable to
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pay itspay
debts
its as
debts
andas
when
and they
whenbecome
they become
due and
due
payable.
and payable.

This
report
is with
madea and
signed
in the
accordance
with a resolution of the Board of directors and is signed for
SignedSigned
in
accordance
in accordance
with
resolution
a resolution
of
of
directors.
the directors.
and on behalf of the directors by:

Mark Mark
Cooper
Cooper
Mark Cooper
Director
Director
Director

MarioMario
Pirone
Pirone
Mario Pirone
Director
Director
Director

Dated
this
18th
day
August
2020
Dated Dated
this
18th
this
day
18th
ofday
August
ofof
August
2020
2020

95

95
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Ernst & Young
11 Mounts Bay Road
Perth WA 6000 Australia
GPO Box M939 Perth WA 6843

Tel: +61 8 9429 2222
Fax: +61 8 9429 2436
ey.com/au

Auditor’s independence declaration to the directors of Capricorn Society
Limited
As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of Capricorn Society Limited for the financial year
ended 30 June 2020, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:
a)

no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit; and

b)

no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Capricorn Society Limited and the entities it controlled during the financial
year.

Ernst & Young

T G Dachs
Partner
18 August 2020

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

TD:TGF:CAPRICORN:013
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020

Revenue from contracts with customers

2020

2019

Note

$'000

$'000

2(a)

25,927

22,816

72,360

68,999
8,885

Trade account revenue calculated using the effective
interest rate method
Other interest revenue

2(b)

7,970

Other income

2(b)

1,722

3,066

107,979

103,766

2(c)

4,146

8,142

Employee benefit expense

2(d)

(47,330)

(43,345)

Member trade rebate

2(e)

(13,398)

(10,000)

(5,173)
(2,667)

(3,297)
(2,857)

Total revenue
Other operating income
Expenses

Depreciation and amortisation expense
Marketing and advertising costs
Other expenses

2(g)

Total expenses
Profit before tax
Income tax expense
Profit after tax for the year

3(a)

(26,276)

(25,074)

(94,844)

(84,573)

17,281

27,335

(4,135)

(6,924)

13,146

20,411

13,146

20,411

13,146

20,411

Profit attributable to:
Members of the parent entity

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
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Note
Profit after tax for the year

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

13,146

20,411

(80)

1,002

(80)

1,002

13,066

21,413

13,066

21,413

13,066

21,413

Other comprehensive income:
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translating foreign controlled
entities

15(b)

Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the year net of
tax
Total comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Members of the parent entity

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2020
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

5
4
17
11

111,292
230,286
3,762
345,340

58,763
197,199
32,100
3,240
291,302

4
17
7
12
8
9
3(f)

11,115
58,278
3,975
4,454
12,003
18,489
17,598
125,912

10,352
67,705
3,580
13,732
18,066
9,990
123,425

471,252

414,727

190,276
53,458
1,306
4,916
3,345
253,301

144,664
49,976
3,929
2,984
201,553

3,291
1,038
4,329

1,110
1,110

Total liabilities

257,630

202,663

Net assets

213,622

212,064

154,527
2,170
56,925
213,622
213,622

139,491
2,250
70,323
212,064
212,064

Note
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade account advances and other receivables
Financial assets
Other current assets
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Long term trade account advances
Financial assets
Investment properties
Right of use assets
Intangibles
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Reward Points liability
Lease liabilities
Current tax liabilities
Employee benefits
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities
Employee benefits
Total non-current liabilities

Equity
Issued capital
Reserves
Retained earnings
Parent interest
Total equity

13
2(f)
12
3(e)
14

12
14

15(a)
15(b)
15(c)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

-

(26,544)
56,925

26,557
(11,521)
154,527

Total comprehensive income

Shares issued during the year

Shares bought back during the year

Balance at 30 June 2019

Dividends paid during the year

19,679
-

25,761

Total comprehensive income
(13,680)
70,323

(9,245)
139,491

(732)

-

Other comprehensive income

20,411

-

Profit for the period

Balance at 1 July 2018

2019

Balance at 30 June 2020

Dividends paid during the year

Shares bought back during the year

Shares issued during the year

64,324

-

13,146

-

Other comprehensive income

122,975

(80)

-

-

2,250

-

-

1,002
-

1,002

-

1,248

2,170

-

(80)

-

13,146

2,250

70,323

Balance at 1 July 2019
-

$'000

$'000

$'000
139,491

Foreign
Currency
Reserve

Retained
Earnings

Share
Capital

Profit for the period

2020

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

212,064

(13,680)

(9,245)

20,681
25,761

270

20,411

188,547

213,622

(26,544)

(11,521)

26,557

13,066

(80)

13,146

212,064

$'000

Sub-Total

-

-

-

460
-

460

-

(460)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

$'000

Noncontrolling
Interests
Total

212,064

(13,680)

(9,245)

21,141
25,761

730

20,411

188,087

213,622

(26,544)

(11,521)

26,557

13,066

(80)

13,146

212,064

$'000
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

2,117,690

2,002,699

(2,121,684)

(2,006,363)

20,940

18,002

Other income received

7,433

9,172

Interest received

1,129

3,435

Investment income received

3,385

2,547

(10,755)

(9,156)

18,138

20,336

(1,198)

(1,609)

(4)

18

Notes
Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from Members
Payments to suppliers and employees
Management fees received

Taxes paid
Net cash provided by operating activities

5(e)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property plant and equipment

(1,083)

(951)

77,550

4,500

Funds transferred to term deposits

(45,450)

(15,000)

Purchase of investments

(17,853)

(15,742)

Purchase of intangible assets
Funds transferred from term deposits

Proceeds from investments
Net cash from / (used in) investing activities

24,508

17,880

36,470

(10,904)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issue of shares
Buy-back of shares
Dividends paid by parent entity
Repayment of lease liabilities
Net cash (used in) /from financing activities
Net increase in cash held
Cash at beginning of financial year

11,729

12,817

(11,520)

(9,245)

(765)

(736)

(1,443)

-

(1,999)

2,836

52,609

12,268

58,763

46,345

(80)

150

111,292

58,763

Effect of exchange rates changes on the balance of cash
held in foreign currencies
Cash at end of financial year

5(d)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020
1

Accounting policies

(a)

Corporate information

2020 were authorised for
issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 18th August 2020.
The Parent is a non-listed public company, incorporated in Australia and operating in Australia and New
Zealand. The principal activity of the Group during the financial year was the operation of an automotive
parts and accessories buying company operating along cooperative principles. The Group provides trade
account credit to Members who operate within the Automotive aftermarket industry. Other entities provide
travel, business risk services including the management of the Mutual, financial services and technology
services.

(b)

Basis of preparation

The financial report is a general purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board.
The financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board.
The financial report has been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and investment properties which have been measured at fair value. Cost is
based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets.
The Parent has determined for the purposes of preparing the financial statements it is a for-profit entity.
COVID-

operations in the year ended 30 June 2020 with sales in the

months of March 2020 to May 2020 11% below budget. June 2020 saw a return to normal operations and
a record sales month indicating both Capricorn and the motor vehicle industry are resilient to the economic
downturn. As such Capricorn has deemed its current valuation methodologies to remain appropriate in
the current market conditions.

(c)

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Capricorn Society Limited and
its subsidiaries as at 30 June each year.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Parent,
using consistent accounting policies.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, income
and expenses and profit or losses resulting from intra-group transactions have been eliminated in full.
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For the Year Ended 30 June 2020
1

Accounting policies (continued)

(c)

Principles of consolidation (continued)

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the subsidiaries and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the subsidiaries.
Specifically, the Group controls a subsidiary if and only if the Group has:
power over the subsidiary (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the subsidiary),
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary, and
the ability to use its power over the subsidiary to affect its returns.
When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of a subsidiary, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over a subsidiary, including:
the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee,
rights arising from other contractual arrangements, and
the

and potential voting rights.

The Parent re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the 3 elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when
the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and the Consolidated Statement of Profit or
Loss from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
Unrealised gains or transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by
the Group and are presented separately in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and within equity
in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Losses are attributed to the non-controlling interests
even if that results in a deficit balance.
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment
between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling
interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised within equity attributable to owners of the
parent entity.
When the Group ceases to have control, joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the
entity is remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The
fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint controlled entity or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Page 52

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020
1

Accounting policies (continued)

(d)

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of each of the Group's entities is determined using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Australian dollars which is the parent entity's functional currency.

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the spot rate at the date of
the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is
determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of gain or loss on change in fair value of the item.

Group companies
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars at
the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss are translated
using the average exchange rates prevailing during the period. The exchange differences arising on
translation for consolidation are recognised in other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in profit or loss.

(e)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

New and amended standards and interpretations
Since 1 July 2019, the Group has adopted all Accounting Standards and Interpretations effective from 1
July 2019. Other than the changes described below, the accounting policies adopted are consistent with
those of the previous financial year. The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation
or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.
The Group applied AASB 16 Leases (AASB 16) and AASB Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments (AASB Interpretation 23) for the first time from 1 July 2019. The nature and effect of these
changes as a result of the adoption of these new Accounting Standards are described below.
Several other new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations applied for the first time from
1 July 2019, but did not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group and, hence,
have not been disclosed.

Page 53

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020
1

Accounting policies (continued)

(e)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

AASB 16
AASB 16 supersedes AASB 117 Leases. AASB 16 sets out the principles for recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for most leases under a single onbalance sheet model.
The Group has applied, for the first time, AASB 16 from 1 July 2019, and has not restated comparatives
for the prior year as permitted under the specific transition provisions in AASB 16. The Group adopted
AASB 16 using the modified retrospective method of adoption with the date of initial application of 1 July
2019. Under this method, the standard is applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially
applying the standard recognised at the date of initial application, 1 July 2019. The Group elected to use
the transition relief allowing the standard to be applied only to contracts that were previously identified
as leases applying AASB 117 and AASB Interpretation 4 at the date of initial application.
The group has used the following practical expedients permitted by the standard on adoption of the
Standard:
the measuring the right-of-use asset on transition as being equal to the amount of the lease
liability initially recognised on transition;
exemption for short-term leases that have a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at
1 Jul 2019;
excluding initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial
application;
applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics;
using hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend or
terminate the lease.
The effect of adoption of AASB 16 is as follows:
The impact on the consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 July 2019 is an increase in Right of
Use Assets of $4,908,050 and an increase in the lease liability of $4,908,050.
Reconciliation between AASB 16 right of use assets and lease commitments as at 30 June
2019:
Lease commitments at 30 June 2019

3,648

Reassessment of lease term

2,110

Short term leases

(148)

Discounting of lease liabilities

(702)
4,908
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1

Accounting policies (continued)

(e)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

Nature of the effect of adoption of AASB 16 (Group as lessee):
The Group has lease contracts for motor vehicles, Sydney and Perth office space and office equipment.
Before the adoption of AASB 16, the Group classified these leases at the inception date as an operating
lease. As an operating lease, the leased property was not capitalised and the lease payments were
recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
Upon adoption of AASB 16, the Group applied a single recognition and measurement approach for all
leases of which it is the lessee. Using the modified retrospective method of adoption of AASB 16 and
applying the practical expedients listed above, the Group applied AASB 16 at the date of initial application
by measuring the right-of-use assets based on the amount equal to the lease liabilities. Lease liabilities
were recognised based on the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the
incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application.
Treatment of prior year comparative:
Following the decision to use the modified retrospective method to operating leases in the current year,
the prior year comparatives have not been restated.
The effect of adopting AASB 16 is as follows;
Impact on statement of financial position as at 1 July 2019;

Non-Current Assets
Right of Use Assets
Total Non-Current Assets

4,908
4,908

Current Liabilities
Lease Liabilities
Total Current Liabilities

1,153
1,153

Non-Current Liabilities
Lease Liabilities

3,755

Total Non-Current Liabilities

3,755

Total Liabilities

4,908

Set out below are the Group s new accounting policies upon adoption of AASB 16 from 1 July
2019:
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Accounting policies (continued)

(e)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

Group as a lessee
Lease Liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period
on which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term or a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments.
Short-term lease and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term and lease of low-value assets recognition exemptions to new leases
that are considered short-term or of low value (i.e. those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less or are below $7,000 when new). Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are expensed over the lease term.
Right-of-use asset
The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred and
lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Unless
the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the
recognised assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
lease term. Right-of-use asset are assessed for impairment.
Group as a lessor
Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.
At 1 July 2019, it was determined the adoption of AASB 16 had no impact on the Group as a lessor.

Page 56

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020
1

Accounting policies (continued)

(e)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

AASB Interpretation 23
The Interpretation clarifies the application of the recognition and measurement criteria in AASB 112
Income Taxes when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. The Interpretation specifically
addresses the following:
Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately;
The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation
authorities;
How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax
credits and tax rates; and
How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.
The Directors have determined that there is no impact, material or otherwise, of this new interpretation
on its business.

Reclassification of comparatives
During the year ended 30 June 2020, the following reclassifications occurred:
The Group has reclassified the liability for Reward Points amounting to $49,976,000 as a financial liability
and not as a contract liability, with no impact on measurement. The re-classification occurred as a result
of continued consideration of the terms and conditions of the reward system in place and the
ancial liability.
Prior period comparatives have been reclassified to enable comparability.

(f)

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

The
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and accompanying disclosures, and the disclosures of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty
about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that requires a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities. The key estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities
within the next annual reporting period are:

Judgements

judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group applied the following judgements that significantly affect the determination of the amount and
timing of revenue from contracts with customers:
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Accounting policies (continued)

(f)

Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued)

The Group sells advertising space in its publications to Preferred Suppliers and recognises the revenue
arising from these contracts with customers at the point in time upon the fulfilment of the single
performance obligation, being the point when the associated publication is issued.

The Group applied

judgement in assessing the performance obligations and the timing of the fulfilment of the performance
obligations under the contract.
The Group provides administration and support services to Capricorn Mutual Limited under a service
contract. The Group also provides insurance broking services for which it receives fees and commission.
The Group exercised judgement in determining the performance obligations and the timing of the fulfilment

of the performance obligations under the contract. The Group applied judgement in determining the
fulfilment of the performance obligations occurs over the time for the duration of the service contract and
at a point in time for the insurance broking contract.

Principal versus agent considerations
The Group applied judgment in determining that the Group acts as an agent in providing IT, administration
and support services to Capricorn Mutual, insurance broking services and travel booking services to
Members because the Group does not have the primary responsibility to provide the underlying risk
protection or travel to the customer.

Non-consolidation of Capricorn Mutual Limited
Capricorn Society Limited Board considers that the relationship between Capricorn Society Limited and
the Mutual is that of an agent and hence the Group does not control the Mutual and is not required to
consolidate the Mutual. See note 19.

Leases

in assessing whether the contract provides the customer with the right to substantially all of the economic
benefits from the use of the asset during the lease term and whether the customer obtains the right to
direct the use of the asset during the lease term. For those agreements considered to contain, or be,
leases, further judgment is required to determine the lease term by assessing whether termination or
extension options are reasonably certain to be exercised. For leases where the Group is a lessor, judgment
is required to determine if substantially all of the significant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred
to the customer or remain with the Group, to appropriately account for the agreement as either a finance
or operating lease. These judgements can be significant and impact how the Group classifies amounts
related to the arrangement as either PP&E or as a finance lease receivable on the consolidated statement
of financial position, and therefore the amount of certain items of revenue and expense is dependent
upon such classifications.
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Accounting policies (continued)

(f)

Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued)

Estimates and Assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

The Group based its

assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were
prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change
due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such changes
are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

Revaluation of investment properties
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market
conditions at the reporting date. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, including the corresponding tax
effect. Fair values are determined based on an annual evaluation performed by an accredited external,
independent valuer, applying a valuation model recommended by the International Valuation Standards
Committee.
The key assumptions used to determine fair value of the investment properties are further explained in
Note 17.

Determination of fair value
The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. Senior
finance management has overall responsibility for overseeing all significant fair value measurements and
reports directly to the Chief Financial Officer. Senior finance management will apply judgment in
the fair value hierarchy.
If third party information is used to measure fair values, then senior finance management assesses the
evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion that such valuations meet the
requirements of the Accounting Standards, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such
valuations are classified. Significant valuation
Committee.
When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data as far as
possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs
used in the valuation techniques as disclosed in note 17.
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Accounting policies (continued)

(f)

Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued)

Income taxes
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences and unused tax losses can be utilised. Management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based on the likely timing and the level of future
taxable profit along with future tax planning strategies. Management considers forecast future taxable
income over a 5-year horizon and performs stress testing of budgets to ensure DTA recoverability is
appropriate. Deferred tax assets are not recognised where utilisation is not considered probable.

Provision for expected credit loss (ECL) on trade account advance
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade account advances. The provision rates are
based on days past due and customer type and rating.

calibrates the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information based
on forecast economic conditions, at each reporting date. The correlation between historical and forecast
rates for the ECL is a significant estimate. The amount of the ECL is sensitive to changes and the
assumptions adopted by management may not be representative of actual defaults in the future. The
disclosed in Note 4.

i

Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
Background
The COVID-19 outbreak was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization in March 2020. The
outbreak and the response of Governments in dealing with the pandemic is interfering with general
activity levels within the community, the economy and the operations of our business. The scale and
duration of these developments remain uncertain as at the date of this report. Management have
considered the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic in the significant accounting judgements,
estimates and assumptions. However, as these are subject to increased uncertainty the actual outcomes
may differ materially from the estimates.
Processes Applied
As a consequence of COVID-19 and in preparing these financial statements, management:
-

re-evaluated whether there were any additional areas of judgement or estimation uncertainty

-

reviewed its ECL inputs for potential adjustments

-

reviewed external market communications to identify other COVID-19 related impacts

-

reviewed public forecasts and experience from previous downturns

-

assessed the carrying values of its assets and liabilities and determined the impact thereon as a
result of market inputs and variables impacted by COVID-19

-

ran multiple stress testing scenarios, which are an integral component of
risk management framework and a key input to the capital adequacy assessment process, to
assess the potential impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on its portfolio to assist in the

-

considered the impact of COVID-

.
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Accounting policies (continued)

(f)

Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued)

Capricorn Travel Australia Pty Ltd
COVIDbe enforced around the world. The travel division has scaled down its operations in response to this.
Members travel requirements with the expectation of
increasing its operations once travel restrictions are reduced.
Consideration of the statements of financial position and further disclosures
Key statements of financial position sheet items and related disclosures that have been impacted by
COVID-19 were as follows:
-

Trade account advances ECL inputs have been reviewed for appropriateness given the current
market volatility.

-

Property, plant & equipment, intangibles and right-of-use assets were reviewed for impairment
from which no impairment was required.

-

2

Fair Value of financial assets and investment properties were assessed at Note 6 and Note 7.

Revenues and expenses

(a)

Revenue from contracts with customers
For the Year ended 30 June 2020
Management
fee
$ 000

Geographical markets
Australia
New Zealand
Total revenue from contracts
with customers

19,578

2,019

Advertising
income
$ 000
2,269

Total
$ 000

23,866

1,362

140

559

2,061

20,940

2,159

2,828

25,927

Management
fee
$ 000
Timing of revenue recognition
Revenue earned at a point in time

Commission
income
$ 000

Commission
income
$ 000

Advertising
income
$ 000

Total
$ 000

-

2,159

2,828

4,987

Revenue earned over time

20,940

-

-

20,940

Total revenue from contracts
with customers

20,940

2,159

2,828

25,927
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Revenues and expenses (continued)

(a)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
For the Year ended 30 June 2019
Management
fee
$ 000

Geographical markets
Australia
New Zealand
Total revenue from contracts
with customers

Advertising
income
$ 000

Total
$ 000

16,861

1,907

2,209

20,977

1,141

147

551

1,839

18,002

2,054

2,760

22,816

Management
fee
$ 000
Timing of revenue recognition
Revenue earned at a point in time

Commission
income
$ 000

-

Commission
income
$ 000

Advertising
income
$ 000

2,054

Total
$ 000

2,760

4,814

Revenue earned over time

18,002

-

-

18,002

Total revenue from contracts
with customers

18,002

2,054

2,760

22,816

Revenue from contracts with customers
facilitating procurement of a wide variety of goods and services for
its Members operating in the automotive services sector. As discussed above under critical accounting
estimates and judgments (see note 1(f)), trade account revenue is accounted for using the effective
interest rate method. There are a number of other activities the Group undertakes in addition to the
core business activity as described, namely administration and support services to a related party,
producing advertising publications for Members and Preferred Suppliers and
insurance product referrals. Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the
goods or services are transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The Group has generally
concluded that it is the agent in its revenue arrangements detailed below.

Management fees
The Group provides administration support services, claims support and sales support to Capricorn Mutual
Limited under a fixed price contractual agreement. The management contracts last for one year and are
effective from 01 July. There is a single performance obligation comprising a series of distinct services
with a similar pattern of transfer under the contract which is satisfied over time as the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the services. Revenue from providing services is recognised on
the percentage of completion basis using the input method. The disclosures of significant accounting
judgements, estimates and assumptions relating to revenue from contracts with customers are provided
in Note 1(f).
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(a)

Revenues and expenses (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Advertising income
The Group sells advertising space to Preferred Suppliers in publications produced by the Group for the
benefit of Members. Revenue arising from the sale of advertising space is recognised in full at the point
in time when the publication is produced and distributed to the members.

Commission income
The Group earns commission from third party product providers for the referral of Members. Revenue
arising from the arrangement is recognised in full at the point in time that the insurance policy is written
by the third party or related party product provider.

(b)

Interest and other income

Interest on financial assets at amortised cost
Interest - related parties
Interest revenue

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

7,924

8,694

46

191

7,970

8,885

Rent received

175

172

Loan forgiven

-

1,498

Other income

1,547

1,396

1,722

3,066

Trade account revenue
The Group is in the business of facilitating procurement of a wide variety of goods and services for its
Members from Preferred Suppliers operating in the automotive services sector, via the advancement of
credit, the provision of settlement services and the provision of ancillary services to support the
procurement.
The Group has concluded that this is a financing transaction and accordingly trade account revenue is
recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method. The effective interest method
measures the amortised cost of a trade account advances using the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate discounts the estimated stream of future cash receipts over the expected life of the trade
account advances to the net carrying value of the trade account advances.
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(b)

Revenues and expenses (continued)
Interest and other income (continued)

Reward Points programme
The Group operates a loyalty Reward Points programme which allows Members to accumulate points
when they purchase goods and services from Preferred Suppliers using their Capricorn account. The points
can be redeemed for gift cards, travel or can be used to
financial liability until the points are redeemed. Revenue is recognised upon redemption by the Member
if the Member elects to redeem the Reward Points in exchange for goods or services. Where the Member
elects to redeem the Reward Points to settle their trade account advances, no further revenue is
recognised.

Other interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised on an effective interest rate basis that takes into account the interest rates
applicable to the financial asset.

Investment income
ight to
receive the dividend is established. Investment income is presented separately and is not included in the
fair value gain or loss on the financial assets

Rental income
Rental income from investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(c)

Other operating income

Profit from sale of financial assets

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

342

-

-

5,441

395

130

Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Fair value gain on investment properties at fair value through profit
or loss
Foreign exchange gain realised
Investment income received

24

-

3,385

2,546

Foreign exchange gain unrealised

-

3

Profit from sale of plant & equipment

-

22

4,146

8,142

Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss relates to the fair value increase of the
underlying investment. Refer to note 6 for a summary of the Groups investments. Fair value gain on
financial assets does not include dividends received which are presented separately.
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Revenues and expenses (continued)

(d)

Employee benefit expense

Salary and wages

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

37,260

33,362

Superannuation

3,654

2,957

Commissions and bonuses

3,089

4,454

Other employee expenses

3,327

2,572

47,330

43,345

(e)

Member trade rebate

A Member trading rebate of $13,398,000 was approved and declared by the Board in June 2020 and
accrued as at 30 June 2020 and classified within trade and other payables (refer to Note 13). This will be
allocated to Members during the year ending 30 June 2021 in the form of Reward Points on a pro rata
basis based on total Member spend in the 2020 financial year. A Member trading rebate of $10,000,000
was declared in the 2019 financial year, of which $5,000,000 was allocated to Members in the form of
Reward Points on a pro-rata basis based on total Member spend in the 2018 financial year. The remaining
$5,000,000 was accrued as at 30 June 2019 and classified within trade and other payables (refer to Note
13). The payment was made to Members in the form of Reward Points on a pro rata basis based on total
Member spend in the 2019 financial year.

(f)

Liability for unredeemed Reward Points

Reward Points
Opening Balance

Liability for unredeemed Reward Points at 1 July

Reward Points issued
Reward Points issued - Member trading rebate
Reward Points redeemed
Closing Balance

Liability for unredeemed Reward Points

2020

2019

49,976

46,824

32,461

30,290

5,000

5,000

(33,979)

(32,138)

53,458

49,976

Reward Points are earned by Members through eligible purchases from suppliers. The fair value of the
liability is recognised at the time Members conduct purchase transactions with Preferred Suppliers and is
subsequently measured at amortised cost. The liability for Reward Points are redeemable to settle trade
account advance or for goods or services at the Members
declared but not yet allocated to Members is disclosed in Note 13.

. Member trade rebate that has been
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Revenues and expenses (continued)

(g)

Other expense

Bad & Doubtful Debts

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

2,753

2,025

-

1,037

Travel expenses

1,501

1,940

Information technology and communication expenses

5,943

5,833

224

1,692

Foreign exchange loss realised

-

13

Loss on disposal of plant & equipment

4

-

277

-

Bad debts written off

INeedAService Pty Ltd

Lease rental expenses

Foreign exchange loss unrealised
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

3,118

-

Consulting expenses

2,529

2,019

Trade Commissions

1,394

1,308

Insurance, Legal & Accounting Fees

1,616

1,563

Credit Card Fee Expense
Other operating expenses

3

Income tax

(a)

The major components of income tax expense are:

996

353

5,921

7,291

26,276

25,074

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

10,931

8,480

820

(170)

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
Current income tax:
Current income tax charge
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous year
Deferred tax:
Over provision for deferred tax in prior year
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences
Income tax expense reported in the Consolidated Statement
of Profit or Loss

(673)

(84)

(6,943)

(1,302)

4,135

6,924
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Income tax (continued)

(b)

Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by
2019 and 2020:
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

17,281

27,335

5,184

8,200

683

(426)

- Imputation credits

(858)

(526)

- Under/(over) provision for income tax in prior year

(128)

(170)

- over provision for deferred tax in prior year

(673)

(85)

(73)

(69)

4,135

6,924

Accounting profit before income tax
Income tax at Australia's statutory tax rate of 30% (2019: 30%)
Tax effect of:
- Non-deductible/(assessable) expense for tax purposes
- Non-assessable expense for tax purposes

- Effect of foreign income tax
Income tax reported in the Consolidated Statement of Profit
or Loss

(c)

Tax Losses

The Group does not have any deferred income tax losses at 30 June 2020.

(d)

Tax consolidation

Capricorn Society Limited and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax
consolidated group under the tax consolidation legislation. Each entity in the group recognises its own
current and deferred tax assets and liabilities. Such taxes are measured using the 'stand-alone taxpayer'
approach to allocation. Current tax liabilities (assets) and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and tax credits in the subsidiaries are immediately transferred to the parent entity. The tax
consolidated group has entered into a tax funding arrangement whereby each company in the group
contributes to the income tax payable by the group in proportion to their contribution to the group's
taxable income. Differences between the amounts of net tax assets and liabilities derecognised and the
net amounts recognised pursuant to the funding arrangement are recognised as either a contribution by,
or distribution to the parent entity.

(e)

Current tax liabilities

Current tax liabilities
Fringe benefits tax

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

4,773

3,763

143

166

4,916

3,929
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(f)

Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax assets
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

Doubtful debts

1,588

1,247

Provisions and accruals

6,313

4,322

Reward Points
Intangibles
Other sundry accounts

12,821

11,719

(3,004)

(3,273)

(120)

(4,025)

17,598

9,990

Deferred tax is provided for using the full liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.
No deferred tax recognised on the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding those acquired in a
business combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at reporting date.
Their measurement also reflects the manner in which management expects to recover or settle the
carrying amount of the related asset or liability.
Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the
deferred tax asset can be utilised.
Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates, and
joint ventures, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary difference can be controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the
foreseeable future.
Current assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is intended
that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will
occur. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists, the
deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where it is intended that net settlement or
simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur in future periods in
which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled.

(g)

Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of
GST incurred is not recoverable from the relevant tax authority. In these circumstances the GST is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables
and payables in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position are shown inclusive of GST.
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Income tax (continued)

(g)

Goods and services tax (GST) (continued)

Cash flows are presented in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows on a net basis except for receipts
from Members and payments to Suppliers, which includes GST of the Member and Supplier, which
Capricorn is not party to. The GST component of investing and financing activities is disclosed as operating
cash flows.

4

Trade account advances and other receivables
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

226,740

193,474

Current
Trade account advances
Other receivables
Allowance for impairment of receivables

8,430

7,423

(4,884)

(3,698)

230,286

197,199

11,569

10,856

(454)

(504)

11,115

10,352

Non-current
Trade account advances
Allowance for impairment of receivables

Trade account advances and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost, less expected credit loss. Under AASB 9, receivables are subsequently
measured at fair value through profit or loss, amortised cost, or fair value through OCI.
Current trade account advances are non-interest bearing and are on 30 day terms. Other receivables
are non-interest bearing and subject to various contractual terms not exceeding 30 days. Non-current
trade account advances are fixed interest loans to Members, with terms greater than 12 months.
Collectability of trade account advances is reviewed on an ongoing basis. The Group applies the general
(i.e. not simplified) approach

trade account advances. Due to the short-term

nature of the current trade a
trade account advances which are known to be uncollectible are written off. The Group uses a provision
matrix to calculate ECLs for trade account advances. The provision rates are based on credit risks for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e, by geography, customer
type and rating).
Trade accounts are subject to strict credit terms as contracted in the Approved Purchaser Agreement.
The Group considers a trade account to be in default when the outstanding receivable becomes past due.
The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information.
For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product or credit environment) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the
automotive industry sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reviewed and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of
co
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Trade account advances and other receivables (continued)

The Group utilises its credit department and external debt collection agencies to recover outstanding
debts. Once a debt becomes unrecoverable, the Group will write it off however debts under enforcement
activity will continued to be monitored.
The Group has recognised an expense of $2,753,000 (2019: $2,025,000) in respect of the expected credit
losses on trade account advances during the year ended 30 June 2020. This expense has been included

Capricorn has not adjusted its provision methodology for COVID-19 due to its previously stated resilience
to the economic downturn and no identifiable variance to Member trade account payments.

Movement in allowance for impairment of trade account advances
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

Current
Opening balance at 1 July
Charge for year to Profit or Loss

short term receivables

Debts previously provided for fully written off
Exchange movement
Closing balance at 30 June

(3,698)

(3,396)

(2,689)

(1,834)

1,533

1,316

(30)

216

(4,884)

(3,698)

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

Non-Current
Opening balance at 1 July
Charge for year to Profit or Loss

long term receivables

Debts previously provided for fully written off
Exchange movement
Closing balance at 30 June
Total

(504)

(267)

(64)

(1,227)

64

1,227

50

(237)

(454)

(504)

(5,338)

(4,202)

The increase in trade account advances has led to an increase in the allowance for the impairment of
receivables. The Group experienced strong sales growth during the period. The trade and other
receivables balance at 30 June 2020 increased by $33,850,000 or 16.3% on the prior period.
Analysis of trade account advances ageing and impairment includes both current and non-current
receivables and is set out below. Trade account advances form part of "Trade and other receivables"
included above.
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Trade account advances and other receivables (continued)
Total debt

Impairment

rating

$ 000

$ 000

ECL risk
2020
Low

217,157

(812)

Low

11,569

(454)

30 days

Low

5,372

(198)

60 days

Moderate

328

(205)

90 days

High

758

(709)

90+ days

High

3,125

(2,960)

238,309

(5,338)

Low

181,565

(550)

Low

10,856

(340)

30 days

Low

8,428

(424)

60 days

Moderate

770

(455)

90 days

High

575

(371)

90+ days

High

2,136

(2,062)

204,330

(4,202)

Current receivables
Non

current receivables

Past due:

Total
2019
Current receivables
Non

current receivables

Past due:

Total

All receivables other than those provided for are expected to be recovered in full.

5

Cash and cash equivalents
2020

2019

$ 000

$ 000

Cash at bank

99,155

44,983

Short-term deposits

12,137

13,780

111,292

58,763

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly
liquid investments with original maturities of 3 months or less, and bank overdrafts.
For the purpose of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash
and short-term deposits as defined above.

(a)

Cash at bank and on hand

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.
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Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

(b)

Short-term deposits

Short term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and 3 months, depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.
Due to the short-term nature of these deposits, the Group determines that they are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

(c)

Banking facilities

At 30 June 2020, the Group had available the following undrawn committed borrowing facilities in respect
of which all conditions had been met:

Business Visa Card Facility

(d)

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

696

598

Reconciliation to the Statement of Cash Flows

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at bank, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
Cash and cash equivalents as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in
the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

111,292

58,763
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Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

(e)

Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operations with Profit after Income Tax

Profit after tax for the year

2020

2019

$ 000

$'000

13,146

20,411

3,586

3,297

Cash flows excluded from profit attributable to operating
activities:
Non-cash flows in profit
Depreciation and amortisation
Loss /(Profit) on disposal of plant and equipment
Fair value adjustments
Other non-cash items

4

(22)

2,378

(5,566)

143

-

(31,495)

(13,714)

36,706

17,896

Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) in trade and term receivables and other assets
Increase in trade and other payables
Increase in GST liability
Increase in employee benefits
(Decrease) in tax liabilities

6

38

61

290

205

(6,658)

(2,232)

18,138

20,336

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets include investments in unit trusts, property trusts, hybrid securities and listed
securities. Refer to note 17 for breakdown and classification at balance date.

Recognition and initial measurement
Financial assets are recognised when the entity becomes a party to contractual provisions of the
instruments. Trade date accounting is adopted for financial assets that are delivered within timeframes
established by marketplace convention.
Financial assets are initially measured at fair value on trade date, which includes transaction costs for
financial instruments not at fair value through profit or loss. Subsequent to initial recognition these
instruments are measured as set out below.

(a)

Term deposits

Term deposits are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less
expected credit loss. Term deposits are made with AA rated Australian banks for varying periods of between
4 and 12 months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective term deposit rates. Due to the short-term nature of these deposits, and the credit rating of the
counterparties, the Group determines that term deposits are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value.
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Financial assets (continued)

(b)

Loan to Capricorn Mutual Limited

The Loan to Capricorn Mutual Limited was classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss as it
was limited recourse at the time the loan, which totalled $4,903,000 and was advanced in three payments
during the years ended 30 June 2004 to 2006 with a repayment date of 31 October 2025.
During the period, The Mutual received approval from ASIC to allow the repayment of the remaining loan
balance of $2,500,000 to The Group in December 2019. As such the loan has now been repaid in full.

(c)

Investments in unit trusts

Investments in unit trusts comprise managed portfolio investments, where the underlying portfolio
yielding both a return of income and capital. The portfolio managers may alter the asset class weighting in
accordance with the investment strategy. The investments in unit trusts are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

(d)

Investment in property trusts

During the period, the remaining underlying assets were disposed of by the property trust with income
distributed and capital returned to the unit holders. As at 30 June 2020 the trust holds minimal funds to
satisfy the warranty requirements to the purchaser with the warranty expiring in November 2020 at which
point the trust is to be wound up. The expectation is that no further distribution will be received from the
property trust. The investment in the property trust comprised of managed property investments, where
the underlying assets were office and industrial properties in the metropolitan areas of Melbourne, Sydney
and Perth. The investments in property trusts are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss.

(e)

Investment in listed hybrid securities

Investments in listed hybrid securities comprise of income producing preference notes offered by Australian
capital. It is valued on a mark to market basis using the bid price at the close of trading. The investments
in listed hybrid securities are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

(f)

Investment in listed securities

Investments in listed securities comprise of ordinary shares and options in ASX listed companies. The
close of trading. The investments in listed securities are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss.
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Investment properties

Opening balance at 1 July
Revaluation
Closing balance at 30 June

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

3,580

3,450

395

130

3,975

3,580

Investment properties, comprising freehold office complexes, industrial land and residential land, are held
to generate long-term rental and capital yields. The Welshpool tenant lease is on an arm's length basis for
an initial period of 10 years, expiring 28 February 2025. Investment properties are carried at fair value,
determined annually by independent valuers. Changes to fair values are recorded in the Consolidated

Rental income derived from investment properties
Direct operating expense recovery
Direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance)
generating rental income (included in other expenses)
Profit arising from investment properties carried at fair value

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

175

172

25

29

(25)

(29)

175

172

The Group has no restrictions on the recoverability of its investment properties and no contractual
obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment properties.

(a)

Valuation basis

Investment properties are stated at fair value, which has been determined based on valuations performed
by Savills (WA) Pty Limited, an accredited independent valuer, as at 30 June 2020. Fair value measurements
of non-financial assets take into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by
using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
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Investment properties (continued)

Description of valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation on investment properties:
Valuation
technique
Office
properties

Capitalisation
approach, direct

Significant
unobservable

Capitalisation rate

Capitalisation
approach, direct

Estimated value
per sqm

comparison approach
Capitalisation rate

Land

Direct comparison
approach

Range (WA)
2019

2020

inputs
Estimated value
per sqm

comparison approach

Warehouse

Range (WA)
$2,750/m2
$3,250/m2

$2,750/m2
$3,250/m2

($3,000/m2)

($3,000/m2)

6.50% - 7.00%

7.25% - 7.75%

(6.75%)

(7.50%)

$1,250/m2

$1,250/m2

$1,750/m2

$1,750/m2

($1,500/m2)

($1,500/m2)

6.50% - 7.00%

6.75% - 7.25%

(6.75%)

(7.00%)

$115/m2 -

$115/m2 -

$135/m

$135/m2

($125/m )

($125/m2)

Estimated value
per sqm

2
2

Office properties and warehouse
Capitalisation of market rental income and direct comparison approaches have been utilised when valuing
office properties and warehouse. Both methods resulted in the same value being calculated.
The valuation calculated on the capitalisation approach was based on the mid-range of capitalisation rate.
If the valuation had been based on the lower end of the range as disclosed above, this would result in a
possible fair value difference of $89,000. If the valuation had been based on the higher end of the range as
disclosed above, this would result in a possible fair value difference of $83,000.
The valuation calculated on the direct comparison approach was based on the mid-range of estimated value
per square metre as disclosed above. If the valuation had been based on the lower end or higher end of the
range as disclosed above, this would result in a possible fair value difference of $225,000.

Land
The direct comparison approach has been utilised when valuing land.
The valuation calculated on the direct comparison approach was based on the mid-range of estimated value
per square metre as disclosed above. If the valuation had been based on the lower end or higher end of the
range as disclosed above, this would result in a possible fair value difference of $130,000.
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Investment properties (continued)

The direct comparison approach analysis is based on a number of assumptions, some of which are listed
below:
allowances when comparing sales evidence have been made for dates of sale, quality of
improvements, location and size;
the offices have been valued at the lower range of other sales given the location in a traditional
industrial location with offices appealing to a narrower market than suburban offices in traditional
localities; and
the valuer adopted a building rate for the warehouse portion slightly below the lower end of building
rates due to lack of functionality.
The capitalisation approach analysis is based on a number of assumptions, some of which are listed below:
the age and location of the asset
the quality of the improvements
the vacant nature of the property
the current market conditions
Fair value hierarchy disclosures for investment properties have been provided in Note 17.

8

Intangibles
Software Costs
$'000

Gross carrying value
At 1 July 2018 at cost
Additions
At 30 June 2019 at cost
Additions
At 30 June 2020 at cost

20,100
420
20,520
396
20,916

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 July 2018
Amortisation
At 30 June 2019
Amortisation
At 30 June 2020

(4,727)
(2,061)
(6,788)
(2,125)
(8,913)

Net book value
At 30 June 2019

13,732

At 30 June 2020

12,003

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses.
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Intangibles (continued)

Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and the
related expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred.
The Group determined that software development costs for the replacement of

Enterprise

Resource Planning system meet the criteria of AASB 138 intangible assets and have been capitalised and
presented as such.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each
reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future
economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation period or method, as
appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible
assets with finite lives is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss when the asset is derecognised.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets as follows:
Software

5 to 10 years
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Property plant and equipment
Freehold

Freehold

Furniture

Computer

Computer

Land

Buildings

& Fittings

Hardware

Software

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

9,101

5,071

5,598

27,175

Additions

-

181

122

1,733

111

2,147

Disposals

-

-

(4)

(593)

(909)

(1,506)

9,101

5,252

Additions

-

-

58

863

981

1,902

Disposals

-

-

(23)

(2,795)

(2,116)

(4,934)

9,101

5,252

2,609

4,157

3,665

24,784

Total

Gross carrying value
At 1 July 2018 at
cost

At 30 June 2019
at cost

At 30 June 2020
at cost

2,456

2,574

4,949

6,089

4,800

27,816

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 July 2018

-

(344)

(769)

(4,623)

(4,282)

(10,018)

Depreciation
charge for the year

-

(130)

(296)

(670)

(140)

(1,236)

Disposals

-

-

4

592

908

1,504

At 30 June 2019

-

(474)

(1,061)

(4,701)

(3,514)

(9,750)

-

(145)

(300)

(859)

(157)

(1,461)

Disposals

-

-

12

2,788

2,116

4,916

At 30 June 2020

-

(619)

(1,349)

(2,772)

(1,555)

(6,295)

At 30 June 2019

9,101

4,778

1,513

1,388

1,286

18,066

At 30 June 2020

9,101

4,633

1,260

1,385

2,110

18,489

Depreciation
charge for the year

Net book value
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Property plant and equipment (continued)

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Such cost includes the cost of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisation when the cost of
replacing the parts is incurred. Similarly, when each major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised
in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement only if it is eligible for capitalisation.
Land is measured at cost and buildings are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets as follows:
Buildings

40 years

Plant and equipment

5 to 20 years

Computer equipment

3 years

Furniture and fittings

3 to 10 years

The
appropriate, at each financial year end.
Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These
gains and losses are included in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss.

Derecognition and disposal
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised.

10

Impairment of non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell
and value in use, is compared to the asset's carrying value. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, or the asset does not
generate largely independent cash inflows, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs
close to its fair value.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. The asset or cash-generating unit is then written down to its recoverable amount.
A review was performed at reporting date with specific attention given to the economic impact of COVID19.

otor vehicle

resilience to the impact of a slowing
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Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

economy no impairment triggers were identified. Therefore no impairment of non-financial assets was
made.

11

Other current assets
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

400

245

3,362

2,995

3,762

3,240

Accrued income
Other assets

Accrued income is primarily made up of advertising income earned but not invoiced at year end. The
balance is made up of bank interest and Fuel Card rebates. Advertising income has been invoiced in July
2020, while bank interest and Fuel Card rebates have been received in July 2020.
Other assets are non-interest bearing.

12

Leases

Right of use assets
Office

Equipment

Motor Vehicles

Total

Premises
Impact of adopting AASB16 - 1
July 2019
Additions
Accumulated depreciation
Net Book Value

30 June 2020

Depreciation for the period

3,102

118

1,688

4,908

75

-

1,057

1,132

(367)

(64)

(1,155)

(1,586)

2,810

54

1,590

4,454

367

64

1,155

1,586

Amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
June
2020
Depreciation expense on right of use assets

1,586

Interest expense on lease liabilities

236

Expenses on short term leases

116

The cash outflow for leases during the period amounted to $1,443,000.
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Leases (continued)

Lease Liabilities
June
2020
Current

1,306

Non-Current

3,291
4,597

Maturity analysis of lease liabilities
June
2020
Undiscounted Cash flows
Less than and including 1 year

1,492

Between 1 and 5 years

2,619

Five years and more

1,078
5,189

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application of Office premises is
3.41% and equipment 3.05%. The interest rate implicit in the lease at the initial application of Motor
Vehicles is 8.00%.
Refer to Note 1 (e) for accounting policy on leases.

13

Trade and other payables
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

155,675

130,113

Sundry creditors and accruals

9,754

5,573

Member Trade Rebate accrual

13,398

5,000

Trade payables

Other payables

11,449

3,978

190,276

144,664

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost. Trade payables primarily represent liabilities to
suppliers for purchases made by Members prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise
when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and
services by Members.
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.
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Employee benefit liability
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

Annual Leave

1,896

1,927

Long service leave

1,449

1,057

3,345

2,984

1,038

1,110

Current provisions

Non-current provisions
Long service leave

Wages, salaries and sick leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave which are
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date, are recognised in respect of
employees’ services up to the reporting date and classified as short term. They are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Expenses for non-accumulating sick leave
are recognised when the leave is taken and measured at the rates paid or payable.

Long service leave
The Group recognises a liability for long service leave measured as the present value of expected future
payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the
projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected and future wage and salary levels,
experience of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted
using market yields at the reporting date on high quality Australian corporate bonds with terms to
maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Short term incentives (STI)
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for short term incentives (STI’s) payable to senior
executives and management in the year in which those incentives are earned. The Group recognises a
liability within Trade and other payables on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position where
contractually obligated or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Key management personnel disclosures
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

4,088

4,822

Post-employment benefits

240

222

Long-term employee benefits

626

488

Termination payments

192

176

Total compensation

5,146

5,708

Short-term employee benefits

The amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognised as an expense during the reporting period
related to directors, the Group CEO and senior executives. The directors share holdings are shown in the
directors’ report on page 39. The Group CEO and senior executives do not own shares or receive loans
from the Group.
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Issued capital and reserves

(a)

Contributed equity
No. of Shares

Share Capital

2020

2019

2020

2019

No.

No.

$'000

$'000

157,889,337

142,876,865

154,086

139,221

441,303

271,067

441

270

158,330,640

143,147,932

154,527

139,491

Ordinary shares issued and
fully paid:
Member shares
All region shares

Movement in Member shares on issue
Member Shares

Opening balance at 1 July
Additional shares issued
Additional shares issued via
dividend reinvestment plan
Shares buy-back
Balance at 30 June

No. of Shares

Share Capital

2020

2019

2020

2019

No.

No.

$'000

$'000

142,876,865

126,228,524

139,221

122,829

11,734,163

12,854,012

11,634

12,817

14,928,735

13,128,542

14,746

12,819

(11,650,426)

(9,334,213)

(11,515)

(9,244)

157,889,337

142,876,865

154,086

139,221

Member shares
Due to the cooperative focus of Capricorn Society Limited, voting rights are determined by membership,
rather than shares owned. Each Member has equal voting rights, regardless of their level of share
ownership. Member shares can be transferred or redeemed in accordance with the terms of the
Constitution of Capricorn Society Limited. Ordinary shares carry the right to dividends.

Movement in all region shares on issue
All Region Shares

No. of Shares

Share Capital

2020

2019

2020

2019

No.

No.

$'000

$'000

Opening balance at 1 July

271,067

145,935

270

146

Additional shares issued

146,400

110,109

147

110

29,637

15,954

30

15

Additional shares issued via
dividend reinvestment plan
Shares buy-back
Balance at 30 June

(5,801)

(931)

(6)

(1)

441,303

271,067

441

270
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Issued capital and reserves (continued)

(a)

Contributed equity (continued)

All region shares
All region shares are issued in Australian dollars only, one share is equal to one Australian dollar. All
region shares do not have voting rights except on matters considered at a separate meeting of all region
shareholders. All region shares carry the right to dividends.

(b)

Reserves
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

2,250

1,248

(80)

1,002

2,170

2,250

Foreign currency translation reserve
Opening balance at 1 July
Currency translation differences arising during the year
Closing balance at 30 June

Nature and purpose of foreign currency translation reserve
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are taken to the foreign currency
translation reserve, as described in Note 1(d). The reserve is recognised in profit or loss when the foreign
operations are disposed of.

(c)

Retained earnings
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

Opening balance at 1 July

70,323

64,324

Profit for the year

13,146

20,411

-

(732)

(26,544)

(13,680)

56,925

70,323

Other comprehensive income
Dividends
Closing balance at 30 June

(d)

Dividends declared

2020 fully franked ordinary dividend of 7 cents per share declared in
June 2020 paid in July 2020
2020 fully franked ordinary dividend of 11 cents per share declared
and paid in September 2019
2019 fully franked ordinary dividend of 11 cents per share declared
and paid in September 2018

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

10,952

-

15,592

-

-

13,680

26,544

13,680
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Issued capital and reserves (continued)

(e)

Balance of franking account
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

35,546

31,663

3,462

2,648

39,008

34,311

The amount of franking credits available for the subsequent financial
year are:
Franking account balance as at the end of the financial year at 30%
(2019: 30%).
Imputation credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of
the provision for income tax.

16

Contingent liabilities

As at 30 June 2020 a financial guarantee for Capricorn Travel Australia Pty Ltd existed that has been
valued at nil (2019: nil). As part of the registration requirements of the International Air Transport
Association (IATA), a guarantee of $141,000 (2019: $143,000) is required. The likelihood of default is
considered to be minimal.
As at 30 June 2020 a financial guarantee for Capricorn Mutual Management Pty Ltd existed that has been
valued at nil (2019: nil). The rental guarantee of $174,000 (2019: $174,000) is required by the landlord
of the Sydney office. The likelihood of default is considered to be minimal.
Refer to Note 18(b) and 18(c) for details of guarantees provided by Capricorn Society Limited.

17

Fair value measurement

The Group measures certain financial assets and non-financial assets such as investment properties, at
fair value at each balance sheet date. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either:
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or
in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.
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Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole:
Level 1

Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2

Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is directly or indirectly observable.
Level 3
Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.
For assets that are measured at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
The Board determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement, such as
investment properties and financial assets, and for non-recurring measurement.
External valuers are involved for valuation of properties. Involvement of external valuers is decided upon
annually by the Board. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and
whether professional standards are maintained.
At each reporting date, the Board analyses the movements in the values of assets which are required to
be re-measured or rethe major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation
to contracts and other relevant documents.

independent auditors. This includes a discussion of the major assumptions used in the valuations.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets on the basis of the
nature, characteristics and risks of the asset and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.
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Fair value measurement (continued)

Set out below is an overview of financial instruments, other than cash, held by the Group:
Financial
assets and
financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

Financial
assets at fair
value through
profit or loss

$'000

$'000

Investment in hybrid securities

-

15,044

Investment in listed securities

-

7,384

2020

Financial assets:

Investments in unit trusts

-

35,841

Investment in property trusts

-

-

Unlisted securities

-

9

Loan to Capricorn Mutual Limited

-

-

11,115

-

Total non-current

11,115

58,278

Trade account advances and other receivables

230,286

-

Trade account advances and other receivables

Term deposits

-

-

Total current

230,286

-

Total

241,401

58,278

190,276

-

53,458

-

Total current

243,734

-

Total

243,734

-

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Reward Points liability
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Fair value measurement (continued)

Set out below is an overview of financial instruments, other than cash, held by the Group:

Financial
assets and
financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

Financial asset
at Fair value
through profit
or loss

$'000

$'000

Investment in hybrid securities

-

16,097

Investment in listed securities

-

1,233

Investments in unit trusts

-

43,831

2019

Financial assets:

Investment in property trusts

-

4,033

Unlisted securities

-

11

Loan to Capricorn Mutual Limited (Note 6(b))

-

2,500

10,352

-

Total non-current

10,352

67,705

Trade account advances and other receivables

197,199

-

Term deposits

32,100

-

Total current

229,299

-

Total

239,651

67,705

Trade account advances and other receivables

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

144,664

-

49,976

-

Total current

194,640

-

Total

194,640

-

Reward Points liability
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Fair value measurement (continued)

Management assessed that the fair values of short-term deposits, trade account advances, other
receivables and trade and other payables to approximate their carrying amounts largely due to
the short-term maturities of these instruments.
2020.
Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Investment in hybrid securities

15,044

15,044

-

-

Investments in listed securities

7,384

7,384

-

-

35,841

-

35,841

-

-

-

-

-

Assets measured at fair value:
Financial assets (Note 6)

Investments in unit trusts
Investments in property trusts

9

-

-

9

3,975

-

-

3,975

62,253

22,428

35,841

3,984

Unlisted securities
Investment Properties (Note 7)

During the year ended 30 June 2020, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 or level 2 and
level 3 fair value measurements.
9.
Assets measured at fair value:

Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

16,097

16,097

-

-

Financial assets (Note 6)
Investment in hybrid securities
Investments in listed securities
Investments in unit trusts
Investments in property trusts

1,233

1,233

-

43,831

-

43,831

-

4,033

-

-

4,033

Unlisted securities
Investment Properties (Note 7)

11

-

-

11

3,580

-

-

3,580

68,785

17,330

43,831

7,624

During the year ended 30 June 2019, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 or level 2 and
level 3 fair value measurements.

Movements of significant assets in Level 3

At 30 June 2018
Return of Capital

Property Trusts

Revaluation gain recognised in other operating income
At 30 June 2019
Return of Capital

Property Trusts

Proceeds of Trust Asset Sale
Revaluation loss recognised in other operating income
At 30 June 2020

Property
Trusts

Investment
Properties

$'000

$'000

5,800

3,450

(2,297)

-

529

130

4,032

3,580

(1,750)

-

(1,842)

-

(440)

395

-

3,975
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Fair value measurement (continued)

Valuation techniques
The fair value of the hybrid securities and listed securities is based on price quotations in an active market
at the reporting date.
The fair value of units in trusts is determined by reference to published bid prices at the close of business
entity.
The fair value of the property trust is based on the valuation of the underlying properties at the reporting
date adjusted for secured debt over the properties, capital additions and excess working capital in the
trust. The underlying properties have been either valued by independent licenced valuers or internal
valuations performed by the fund manager during the year using the capitalisation approach and
discounted cash flow analysis.
sale price less acquisition costs.

Valuation technique

Significant
unobservable inputs

Sensitivity of the
Range

input to fair
value
0.25%
(2019:0.25%)
increase/(decrease)
in the capitalisation
rate would result in

Capitalisation approach

Capitalisation rate

6.75% - 7.75%

an
increase/(decrease)
in fair value by $Nil
(2019:
$83,000/($89,000)
0.25%
(2019:0.25%)
increase/(decrease)

Discounted cash flow
analysis

in the capitalisation
Discount rate

7.50% - 8.25%

rate would result in
an
increase/(decrease)
in fair value by nil
(2019: nil)

Valuation techniques for investment properties are detailed in Note 7.

reporting date.
Valuation techniques for non-current receivables are detailed in Note 4.
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Financial instruments

(a)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's financial instruments consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents, term deposits, financial
assets at fair value, trade account advances, accounts payable, Reward Point liabilities and lease
liabilities.
The main purpose for non-derivative financial instruments is to increase returns on Member's funds held
by the Group.

(b)
i.

Financial risk management policies
Treasury risk management

The Board of directors meet on a regular basis to monitor investment policy, strategy and implementation
in respect of all investments managed by the Group. Specific duties include evaluating which financial
instruments should be used, monitoring and evaluating investment performance, and assessing income
liquidity to strategic spend.

ii.

Financial risk exposures and management

The main risks the Group is exposed to through financial instruments are interest rate risk, equity price
risk, foreign currency risk, and credit risk.

Interest rate risk
The Group is subject to interest rate risk on funds held in bank accounts and term deposits. Interest rate
risk is managed by the

treasury department in accordance with the

investment policy

which prescribes investments only in A-1+ and A-1 financial institutions. The risk is managed by using a
mix of fixed rate term deposits and floating rate cash deposits. The mix is at management discretion. The
Group currently has no borrowings, so is not exposed to increases in the cost of funding. At 30 June 2020
the Group held $111,292,000 (2019: $58,763,000) in bank accounts subject to variable interest rate risk.
In addition, the Group has Nil (2019: $32,100,000) in term deposits at fixed rates which mature on
average within 6 months.

Equity price risk
The Group employs the services of managers to review its share portfolios. Periodic meetings between
evaluate the Group's portfolio risk against equity price risk.
At 30 June 2020 the Group held $58,269,000 (2019: $61,173,000) in financial assets subject to equity
price risk.

Foreign currency risk
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Financial instruments (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management policies (continued)

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by holding bank accounts in the foreign country of operation
to fund working capital requirements.

Credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance
date to recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those
assets, as disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position and notes to the financial statements.
Collateral has been taken in the form of fully paid Capricorn shares to redeem outstanding debts in the
event of non-payment. As shares are not traded and share price is retained at face value, collateral value
is high.
Credit risk is managed on a group basis and reviewed regularly by the Audit & Risk Committee. It arises
from exposures to Members and deposits with financial institutions.
The Group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of receivables
under financial instruments entered into by the consolidated group. The amount of receivables at 30 June
2020 subject to credit risk is $238,309,000 (2019: $203,571,000).
Cash deposits are held with AA- rated financial institutions therefore credit risk is minimal.
No term deposits are held at 30 June 2020.
Other receivables are primarily made up of accrued service fee. This is received via Capricorn subtracting
this amount from the supplier payments. As such there is no risk.

Financial instruments and cash deposits
Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by
department in accordance with the

treasury

investment policy. Investments of surplus funds are made

only with approved counterparties and within credit limits assigned to each counterparty. Counterparty
directors on an annual basis and may be updated
throughout the year subject to approval of the Capricorn Finance Committee.
The limits are set to minimise the concentration of risks and therefore mitigate financial loss through
maximum exposure to credit risk for the
components of the statement of financial position at 30 June 2020 and 2019 are the carrying amounts as
financial guarantees is noted in the liquidity table below.
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Financial instruments (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of directors, who have built an
appropriate liquidity risk
management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and
banking facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity
profiles of financial assets and liabilities.
analysis for their non-derivative financial liabilities. These
have been drawn up based on undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial liabilities including

Less than

1-3

3 months

1-5

1 month

months

- 1 year

years

5+ years

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

232,285

-

-

-

-

232,600

-

-

-

-

194,105

-

-

-

-

317

-

-

-

-

194,422

-

-

-

-

2020
Non-interest bearing

315

Financial guarantee
2019 (restated)
Non-interest bearing
Financial guarantee

(d)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to interest rate risk, foreign
currency risk and equity price risk at balance date. This sensitivity analysis demonstrates the effect on
the current year results and equity which could result from a change in these risks.

Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on the
portion of cash and term deposits affected. The effect on profit as a result of changes in the interest rate,
with all other variables remaining constant would be as follows:
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Financial instruments (continued)

(d)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)
Increase/decrease
in basis points

Total
$'000

2020
111,292

Cash and term deposits subject to interest rate risk
Change in profit before tax
Increase in Interest Rates

+100

+1,113

Decrease in Interest Rates

-100

-1,113

Change in equity
Increase in Interest Rates

+100

779

Decrease in Interest Rates

-100

-779

2019
Cash and term deposits subject to interest rate risk

90,863

Change in profit before tax
Increase in Interest Rates

+100

909

Decrease in Interest Rates

-100

(909)

Change in equity
Increase in Interest Rates

+100

636

Decrease in Interest Rates

-100

(636)

The assumed movement in basis points for the interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the movement
in rates available to the Group. Based on management assessment of interest rates over the year, it is
considered a movement of 100 basis points (2019: 100 basis points) is reasonable.

Foreign currency risk sensitivity analysis
At 30 June 2020

Equity price risk sensitivity analysis

uncertainties about future values of the investment securities. The Group manages the equity price risk
through diversification and by placing limits on individual and total equity instruments. Reports on the
of Directors reviews and approves all equity investment decisions.
At 30 June 2020, the effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the equity price risk, with all
other variables remaining constant would be as follows:
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Financial instruments (continued)

(d)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)
Increase/decrease
in S&P/ASX 200
Price Index

Total
$'000

2020
58,269

Investments subject to equity price risk
Change in profit before tax
Increase in Market Prices

11%

6,410

Decrease in Market Prices

11%

(6,410)

Change in equity
Increase in Market Prices

11%

4,487

Decrease in Market Prices

11%

(4,487)

2019
Investments subject to equity price risk

61,173

Change in profit before tax
Increase in Market Prices

7%

4,282

Decrease in Market Prices

7%

(4,282)

Change in equity
Increase in Market Prices

7%

2,997

Decrease in Market Prices

7%

(2,997)

The assumed movement is based on changes in the S&P/ASX 200 Price Index. Based on management
assessment of the S&P/ASX 200 Price Index over the year, it is considered a movement of 11% (2019:
7%) is reasonable.

(e)

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance.
2019.
The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to equity holders of the parent,
comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings.

Operating cash flows are used to maintain and expand operations, as well as to make routine expenditures
such as tax, dividends and general administrative outgoings.
Gearing levels are reviewed by the Board during the budgeting process and as required through the year.
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Related party disclosure

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Capricorn Society Limited and
the subsidiaries listed in the following table:

% Equity Interest
2020

Investment
2020

2019

2019

%

%

$

$

Capricorn Insurance Services Pty Limited

100

100

850,000

1,350,000

Capricorn Travel Australia Pty Limited

100

100

137,500

137,500

Capricorn Society Financial Services Pty
Limited

100

100

10

10

Capricorn Technology Services Pty Limited

100

100

10

10

Capricorn Risk Services Pty Limited

100

100

250,000

250,000

Capricorn Mutual Management Pty Limited

100

100

10

10

Capricorn 1974 Pty Ltd

100

100

1

1

-

51

-

280,000

INEEDASERVICE Pty Limited

Transactions with Capricorn Mutual Limited and related parties
In 2003 Capricorn Society Limited established Capricorn Mutual Limited (

) in response to the

desire by some Members to access a separate and unique offering of risk protection services. Risk
protection services create exposure to an inherently different set of risks and returns to the Capricorn
business. As these risks and services were not attractive to all Members of the Group, the Mutual was
created.
The Group is one Member out of approximately 8,069
Members do have the ability to amend the constitution to remove the Board.
Whilst the Mutual is not a related party to CSL under the Corporations Act, Capricorn Mutual Management
Pty Ltd and Capricorn Risk Services Pty Ltd which are both a subsidiary of CSL are engaged by the Mutual
to manage the day to day operations of the mutual on behalf of the
interest of disclosure, the following transactions have been noted.

competitive prices and/or expansion of services when possible. The Mutual is unable to pay dividends
given the structure of the Mutual.
The Group provides the Mutual with payment, settlement and distribution services. It has also provided
loans and other finance required for the establishment and growth of the Mutual.
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Related party disclosure (continued)

The Mutual repaid its loan from the Group on 20th December 2019 (2019: $2,500,000). The loan was
advanced in 3 payments during the years ended 30 June 2004 to 2006. The Mutual has been profitable

loan was able to be repaid.
An amount of $6,810,000 was outstanding at 30 June 2020 (2019: $6,073,00) in relation to trade
payables to the Mutual which will be settled within normal trade terms.
The Group therefore carries no assets and $6,810,000 of liabilities in respect of the Mutual. CSL is not
exposed to further net liabilities of the Mutual other than payment of the above trade payable.
During the year the Group earned interest on the loan of $46,000 (2019: $190,000) and fees for providing
services to the Mutual of $20,940,000 (2019: $18,002,000). All charges are based on either recovery of

constant
the Group.
In view of the above the Capricorn Society Limited Board considers that the relationship between the
Group and the Mutual is that of the Group acting as an agent and hence under AASB 10 does not control
the Mutual and is not required to consolidate the Mutual.
Directors Russell Becker, Mark Cooper and Bruce Rathie were directors of Capricorn Mutual Limited during
the year. The Mutual paid a total of $239
30 June 2020 (2019: $225,000).
All directors of the parent entity, other than independent non-Member directors, are Members of the
Group and conduct Member accounts. The terms and conditions of all Member accounts operated by
directors are the same as accounts provided to other Members. Reward Points earned by directors for the
year were $134,000 (2019: $121,000) and the Reward Point balances owing to Member directors at 30
June 2020 were $44,000 (2019: $55,000).
The Group was engaged in a venture with Anthem Software Pty Ltd in the company INeedAService Pty
Ltd. The venture was closed down in August 2019. Anthem Software Pty Ltd held a minority interest of
49%, which is disclosed in Note 19. CSL was responsible for the day-to-day management and decision
making of the venture and is considered to have control of INeedAService Pty Ltd under the terms of
AASB 10.
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Information relating to Capricorn Society Limited (Parent)
2020

2019

$'000

$'000

Current assets

349,175

286,158

Total assets

459,862

409,540

Current liabilities

250,953

201,553

Total liabilities

254,958

202,433

Issued capital

154,527

139,491

1,533

2,228

48,842

65,388

Profit of the Parent entity

8,678

16,689

Total comprehensive income of the Parent entity

8,598

17,690

2020

2019

154,910

159,664

24,445

25,200

179,355

184,864

5,770

5,950

61,809

277,680

-

-

67,579

283,630

246,934

468,494

Foreign currency translation reserve
Retained earnings

21

Auditors' remuneration

The auditor of Capricorn Society Limited is Ernst & Young.

I. Category 1

Fees to the group auditor for:

(i) Auditing the statutory financial report of the parent covering the
group;
(ii) Auditing the statutory financial reports of any controlled
entities;

II. Category 2

Fees for assurance services that are required

by legislation to be provided by the auditor;

III. Category 3

Fees for other assurance and agreed-upon-

procedures/services under other legislation or contractual
arrangements where there is a discretion as to whether the
service is provided by the auditor or another firm; and

III. Category 4

Fees for other services

Page 99

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020
22

Events after the end of the reporting period

Since the end of the reporting period no significant events have occurred which may impact on the results
for the year ended 30 June 2020.

23

Company details

Registered office
The registered office of the company is:
Capricorn Society Limited
28 Troode Street
West Perth WA 6005
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New accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

The following list of new Standards and Interpretations have been issued but are not yet effective for the
year ended 30 June 2020. The Group has not completed a detailed review of standards and interpretations
applicable from 1 July 2020. The impact, if any, of standards or interpretations applicable from 1 July
2020 has not yet been fully determined.

IFRS 3

Amendments to IAS 1 and
IAS 8

Definition of a
business

Definition of
Material

In October 2018, the IASB issued
amendments to the definition of a
business in IFRS 3 Business
Combinations
to help entities determine whether
an acquired set of activities and
assets is a business or not. They
clarify
the minimum requirements for a
business, remove the assessment of
whether market participants are
capable of replacing any missing
elements, add guidance to help
entities assess whether an acquired
process
is substantive, narrow the definitions
of a business and of outputs, and
introduce an optional fair value
concentration test. New illustrative
examples were provided along with
the amendments.
Since the amendments apply
prospectively to transactions or other
events that occur on or after the
date of

first application, the Group will not
be affected by these amendments
on the date of transition.

In October 2018, the IASB issued
amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial
Statements
and
IAS
8
Accounting
Policies,
Changes
in
Accounting Estimates and Errors to align
standards and to clarify certain aspects of
the definition. The new definition states
ormation is material if omitting,
misstating or obscuring it could reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those
financial statements, which provide
financial information about a specific
The amendments to the definition of
material is not expected to have a
consolidated financial statements.

Page 101

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020
24

New accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

(continued)

Conceptual Framework
AASB 2019-1

Conceptual
Framework for
Financial
Reporting
Amendments to
Australian
Accounting
Standards
Reference to
the Conceptual
Framework

AASB 2019-5

Amendments to
Australian
Accounting
Standards
Disclosure of
the Effect of
New IFRS
Standards Not
Yet Issued in
Australia

The
revised
Conceptual
Framework
includes some new concepts, provides
updated
definitions
and
recognition
criteria for assets and liabilities and
clarifies some important concepts. It is
arranged in eight chapters, as follows:
Chapter 1 The objective of financial
reporting
Chapter 2 Qualitative characteristics
of useful financial information
Chapter 3 Financial statements and
the reporting entity
Chapter 4 The elements of financial
statements
Chapter 5 Recognition and
derecognition
Chapter 6 Measurement
Chapter 7 Presentation and disclosure
Chapter 8 Concepts of capital and
capital maintenance
AASB 2019-1 has also been issued, which
sets out the amendments to other
pronouncements for references to the
revised Conceptual Framework. The
changes to the Conceptual Framework
may affect the application of accounting
standards in situations where no standard
applies to a particular transaction or
event. In addition, relief has been
provided in applying AASB 3 and
developing
accounting
policies
for
regulatory account balances using AASB
108, such that entities must continue to
apply the definitions of an asset and a
liability (and supporting concepts) in the
Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements (July
2004), and not the definitions in the
revised Conceptual Framework.
This Standard amends AASB 1054 by
adding a disclosure requirement for an
entity intending to comply with IFRS
Standards to disclose the information
specified in paragraphs 30 and 31 of AASB
108 on the potential effect of an IFRS
Standard that has not yet been issued by
the AASB so that such entity complying
with Australian Accounting Standards can
assert compliance with IFRS Standards.
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Directors' Declaration
In
accordance with
with a
a resolution
we state
In accordance
resolution of
of the
the directors
directors of
of Capricorn
Capricorn Society
Society Limited,
Limited, we
state that:
that:
1)
1) in the directors’ opinion, the financial statements and notes of the consolidated entity have been
prepared
with the
Act 2001,
they:
prepared in
in accordance
accordance with
the Corporations
Corporations Act
2001, including
including that
that they:
a)
a) comply
comply with
with applicable
applicable Australian
Australian Accounting
Accounting Standards,
Standards, (including
(including the
the Australian
Australian Accounting
Accounting
Interpretations)
Interpretations) and
and the
the Corporations
Corporations Regulations
Regulations 2001;
2001; and
and
b)
b) give
give a
a
and
and of
of
c)
c)

true
the financial
true and
and fair
fair view
view of
of the
financial position
position of
of the
the consolidated
consolidated entity
entity as
as at
at 30
30 June
June 2020
2020
its
performance
for
the
year
ended
on
that
date;
and
its performance for the year ended on that date; and

the
the financial
financial statements
statements and
and notes
notes comply
comply with
with International
International Financial
Financial Reporting
Reporting Standards
Standards as
as
described
described in
in note
note 1(b),
1(b),

2)
in accordance
with section
2) the
the directors
directors have
have received
received declarations
declarations in
accordance with
section 295A
295A of
of the
the Corporations
Corporations Act
Act 2001
2001
from
from the
the Chief
Chief Executive
Executive Officer
Officer and
and Chief
Chief Financial
Financial Officer;
Officer; and
and
3)
3) in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the
the company
company will
will be
be able
able to
to
pay
its
debts
as
and
when
they
become
due
and
payable.
pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

Signed
Signed in
in accordance
accordance with
with a
a resolution
resolution of
of the
the directors.
directors.

Mark Cooper
Director
Director

Dated
18th day
day of
Dated this
this 18th
of August
August 2020
2020

Mario Pirone

Director
Director
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Independent auditor's report to the members of Capricorn Society
Limited
Independent auditor's report to the members of Capricorn Society
Opinion
Limited
We have audited the financial report of Capricorn Society Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries
Opinion
(collectively the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June
2020, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
We have audited the financial report of Capricorn Society Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements,
(collectively the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June
including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors' declaration.
2020, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements,
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act
including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors' declaration.
2001, including:
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act
a)
giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2020
2001, including:
and of its consolidated financial performance for the year ended on that date; and
a)
b)

giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2020
complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.
and of its consolidated financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

Basiscomplying
for opinion
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

b)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
Basis for opinion
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor
(including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting
Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
our opinion.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

Information
other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon
our opinion.

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information is the directors’ report
Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon
accompanying the financial report.
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information is the directors’ report
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not
accompanying the financial report.
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial
report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:


Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.



Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.



Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
responsible for our audit opinion.
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
identify during our audit.
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.


We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
Ernst and
& Young
identify during our audit.

Timothy Dachs
Partner
Ernst
Perth & Young
18 August 2020

Timothy Dachs
Partner
Perth
18 August 2020
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